The HERPETOLOGICAL BULLETIN

Number 106 - Winter 2008



PUBLISHED BY THE

BRITISH HERPETOLOGICAL SOCIETY

Contents

RESEARCH ARTICLES

Use of transponders in the post-release monitoring of translocated spiny-tailed lizards (<i>Uromastyx aegyptia microlepis</i>) in Abu Dhabi Emirate, United Arab Emirates <i>Pritpal S. Soorae, Judith Howlett and Jamie Samour</i>
Gastrointestinal helminths of three species of <i>Dicrodon</i> (Squamata: Teiidae) from Peru Stephen R. Goldberg and Charles R. Bursey
Notes on the Natural History of the eublepharid Gecko <i>Hemitheconyx caudicinctus</i> in northwestern Ghana <i>Stephen Spawls</i>
Significant range extension for the Central American Colubrid snake <i>Ninia pavimentata</i> (Bocourt 1883) Josiah H. Townsend, J. Micheal Butler, Larry David Wilson, Lorraine P. Ketzler, John Slapcinsky and Nathaniel M. Stewart
Predation on Italian Newt larva, <i>Lissotriton italicus</i> (Amphibia, Caudata, Salamandridae), by <i>Agabus bipustulatus</i> (Insecta, Coleoptera, Dytiscidae) <i>Luigi Corsetti and Gianluca Nardi</i>
Behaviour, Time Management, and Foraging Modes of a West Indian Racer, Alsophis sibonius Lauren A. White, Peter J. Muelleman, Robert W. Henderson and Robert Powell 20
Communal egg-laying and nest-sites of the Goo-Eater, <i>Sibynomorphus mikanii</i> (Colubridae, Dipsadinae) in southeastern Brazil <i>Henrique B. P. Braz, Francisco L. Franco and Selma M. Almeida-Santos.</i> 26
NATURAL HISTORY NOTES
Bufo Bufo (Common Toad): Fungal Outbreak Cesar Ayres 31
Dipsas Indica (Snail-eating snake): Reproduction Henrique B. P. Braz and Selma M. Almeida-Santos 33
Mastigodryas boddaerti (Boddaert's Tropical Racer): Predation Lucas Rodriguez Forti and Ricardo Alexandre Kawashita-Ribeiro
Amphisbaena alba (Worm Lizard): Defensive Behaviour Circe Cavalcanti de Albuquerque, Silvia Regina Travaglia-Cardoso and Daisy Pereira Ramos
Book Review
Biology of Turtles by Jeanette Wyneken, Matthew H. Godfrey and Vincent Bels Raymond A. Saumure

- Registered Charity No. 205666 -

Use of transponders in the post-release monitoring of translocated spiny-tailed lizards (*Uromastyx aegyptia microlepis*) in Abu Dhabi Emirate, United Arab Emirates

PRITPAL S. SOORAE¹, JUDITH HOWLETT² and JAIME SAMOUR³

¹Associate Scientist, Terrestrial Environment Research Center, Environment Agency Abu Dhabi, P.O. Box 45553, Abu Dhabi, UAE. psoorae@ead.ae

² Assistant Scientist, National Avian Research Center, Environment Agency Abu Dhabi, P.O. Box 45553, Abu Dhabi, UAE. jhowlett@ead.ae

³ Director, Wildlife Division, Wrsan, P.O. Box 77338, Abu Dhabi, UAE. wildlife@wrsan.ae

THE United Arab Emirates (UAE) is L experiencing a massive increase in development projects, which mosty comprise extensive urban developments, construction of industrial areas. expansion of existing and construction of new airports. These projects are encroaching on the habitat of a variety of species both along the coast and inland. A species which is being affected by this development is the spiny-tailed lizard (Uromastyx aegyptia microlepis). This lizard, locally known as 'Dhub', is a large, mainly herbivorous lizard belonging to the family Agamidae. Dhubs live colonially in burrows and so are readily susceptible to negative impacts of development projects. A recent taxonomical review suggests that the UAE may now host two species, namely Uromastyx aegyptica and Uromastyx leptieni, as a result of taxonomical work by Wilms & Böhme (2007). The Environmental Impact Assessments (EIA) from many development projects recommend the capture and translocation of Dhubs from development threatened areas. Therefore it is important to have a reliable method of post-release monitoring of translocated individuals to gather data on their survival and adaptation to environments, and gauge the success of such translocations

MATERIALS AND METHODS

During 2005 an international airport expansion project in the emirate of Abu Dhabi was to impact a Dhub colony. Dhubs from this site were captured to avoid harm, kept in captivity (for ~ 6 months)

and later released in suitable habitat elsewhere within the emirate, within 10 - 53 km of the original capture site.

Whilst in captivity the Dhubs underwent basic veterinary assessments which involved treating one individual for an abscess and providing those Dhubs in poor condition with subcutaneous fluids that included vitamin B complex, electrolytes, amino acids and dextrose. During this period they were also injected with an AVID® (DNAchip) (Norco, California, USA) passive induced transponders (PIT) which was subcutaneously implanted beneath 'loose' skin, ventrally, in the abdominal region, distal to the hind limb, and caudal to the thorax.

To implant the transponder, the skin was first swabbed with surgical spirit and the implantation needle then inserted with the bevel of the needle parallel to the side of the body to minimize accidental injury. A dab of tissue glue (Vetbond Tissue Glue - 3M VetbondTM, St. Paul, Minnesota, USA) was used to close the skin post needle puncture to prevent accidental loss of the PIT. The PIT was checked for functionality pre and post insertion. It was noted that some Dhubs (usually younger specimens) 'inflated' themselves when handled, probably as a stress response, and for these we avoided inserting a PIT until they had 'deflated'. During capture and during monitoring of PIT tagged Dhubs each individual could be easily identified using a Planet ID reader (Essen, Denmark - www.planetid.com) and cross-checking the transponder ID in our database.

Male Dhub lizard	12th Octob	oer 2005	4th July 20)06*	21st Augus	st 2006*
AVID® 977200000431465	weight (g) 855	length (cm) n/a	weight (g) 1,050	length (cm) 55	weight (g) 1040	length (cm) 56.2
	* the same inc	lividual was recaptu	ared twice in July a	nd August 2006.		

Table 1. The weight and length of 'Dhub' over a period of 11 months with two recapture occasions

RESULTS

One of the Dhubs captured at the Abu Dhabi International Airport site (N 24.445126°, E 54.642424°) in approximately mid-2005 was released at Wrsan farm (N 24.609011°, E 54.801969°) of Abu Dhabi Emirate in October 2005 which was approximately 24 km from the original capture site. This Dhub was part of a group of 13 individuals that were released and had been implanted with AVID® transponders. This Dhub was recaptured during a routine health survey of Dhubs in Wrsan and a radiograph revealed a transponder whose unique ID was recorded (see Fig. 1). This individual also had a complete physical examination including weighing and measuring, blood sampling for haematology, blood chemistry analyses, faecal sampling and oral swabbing for parasite analysis and microbiology examination (Table 1).

DISCUSSION

PIT tags have been used successfully to mark many species, including pets, saker falcons, and a variety of wildlife (see www.avidmicrochip.com & www.arrowheadreptilerescue.org / wildlife / pittag.htm). Our work shows that the use of transponders can provide a safe method for the post-release monitoring of Dhubs, which can be individually identified using a PIT reader. Other methods of marking, such as the use of ink, are not permanent as these marks will gradually disappear after successive sloughing of the skin (Bennett, 1999). There have been reports of dead Dhubs being found with numbers written on their dorsum, however, because there is no unified numbering scheme there has been no way of knowing which project captured and released these Dhubs. Other methods such as the use of colored beads or belts can also pose a certain degree of risk to individual lizards and can also

be lost or dislodged (Bennett, 1999). Whilst in captivity there was some mortality of Dhubs, and in a number of cases the highly decomposed/dried carcasses were still identifiable as the PIT's were still present. However, in some cases the PIT was not detected with a reader indicating a loss of the PIT to an individual.



Figure 1. X-ray of 'Dhub' lizard showing transponder on left thoracic side

CONCULUSION

The use of transponders can provide a safe and reliable way of post-release monitoring of Dhubs. Projects undertaking translocations should be encouraged to use transponders and the unique ID stored in a central database. Translocation projects involving Dhubs should be set up as proper markrecapture experiments and any translocated individuals with PIT's remotely monitored by using readers in and around burrows to record individuals. Using mark-recapture and PIT would also greatly improve post-release monitoring and further improve release protocols of Dhubs in translocation projects.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Pritpal Soorae & Judith Howlett would like to thank H. E. Mr. Majid Al Mansouri, Secretary General, Mr. Abdulnasser Al Shamsi, Director, Terrestrial Environment Research Center and colleagues of the Terrestrial Wildlife Section of the Environment Agency-Abu Dhabi, UAE for their enthusiasm and support without which this study would not have been possible. Jaime Samour acknowledges the help and support of the personnel of the Veterinary Science Department of the Wildlife Division for help provided during the health survey of the spiny-tailed lizard population at Wrsan; to H.H. Sheikh Sultan bin Zayed Al Nahyan, Deputy Prime minister for his support and for his interest in conservation of native species in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi, UAE.

REFERENCES

- Bennett, D. (1999). *Expedition Field Techniques Reptiles and Amphibians*. Expedition Advisory Centre, Royal Geographic Society, London.
- Wilms, T. M. & Böhme, W. (2007) Review of the taxonomy of the spiny-tailed lizards of Arabia (Reptilia: Agamidae: Leiolepidinae: Uromastyx). Fauna of Arabia 23, 446.

Gastrointestinal helminths of three species of *Dicrodon* (Squamata: Teiidae) from Peru

STEPHEN R. GOLDBERG¹ and CHARLES R. BURSEY²

¹ Whittier College, Department of Biology, Whittier, California 90608, USA. sgoldberg@whittier.edu

² Pennsylvania State University, Department of Biology, Shenango Campus, Sharon, Pennsylvania 16146, USA. cxb13@psu.edu

ABSTRACT – Three species of *Dicrodon* from Peru (*D. guttulatum, D. heterolepis* and *D. holmbergi*) were examined for helminths. Found were one species of Cestoda *Oochoristica fretisai*, and three species of Nematoda, *Pharyngodon micrurus, Skrjabinodon capacyupanquii*, and *Thubunaea parkeri*. Three new host records are reported. Previous helminth records of *Dicrodon* are listed.

THREE species have been assigned to the genus *Dicrodon*, two, *Dicrodon heterolepis* and *Dicrodon holmbergi*, are endemic to Peru; the third, *Dicrodon guttulatum*, is known from Peru and Ecuador (Peters & Orejas-Miranda, 1986; Lehr, 2002). There are reports of nematodes from *D. heterolepis* and *D. holmbergi* (Table 1) but to the best of our knowledge there are no reports of helminths from *D. guttulatum*. The purpose of this study is to establish the initial helminth list for *D. guttulatum*, add to the helminth list of *D. heterolepis* and to summarize the helminths recorded from *Dicrodon* sp. as part of an ongoing survey of helminths from the lizards of Peru.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Five specimens of D. guttulatum (mean snout-vent length [SVL] = 112 mm \pm 31 SD, range = 74-143 mm, 2 females, 3 males LACM 122797-122801, collected June 1976, Lambayeque Department, 7 km SW Motupe, 06°09'S 79°43'W, Peru), 4 specimens of *D. heterolepis* (SVL = $106 \text{ mm} \pm 5$ SD, range = 100-111, all male, LACM 76923, 76925, 76927, 76928, collected November 1968, Ancash Department, 18 km N Huarmey, 10°05'S 78°05'W, Peru) and 5 specimens of D. holmbergi $(SVL = 108 \text{ mm} \pm 13 \text{ SD}, \text{ range} = 90-120, \text{ all}$ females, LACM 122750, 122754, 122760, 122762, 122763 collected 6 June 1976, La Libertad Department, 1 km N Puente Chao, 8°31'S, 78°40'W Peru) were borrowed from the herpetology collection of the Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County (LACM), Los

Angeles, California and examined for helminths. These specimens had been fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin and preserved in 70% ethanol. The body cavity was opened by a mid-ventral incision and examined under a dissecting microscope. Helminths were removed, placed on a glass slide in a drop of glycerol, covered with a coverslip and examined under a compound microscope. Nematodes were identified from the glycerol slides; cestodes were regressively stained in hematoxylin and mounted in Canada balsam for identification.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Helminth number, prevalence (number infected hosts/total number hosts X 100), mean intensity (mean number helminths) ± 1SD and range for the three host species examined in this study are shown in Table 2. Voucher specimens were deposited in the United States National Parasite Collection, Beltsville, Maryland, USA: *Dicrodon guttulatum: Pharyngodon micrurus* (USNPC 100635), *Skrjabinodon capacyupanquii* (USNPC 100636); *Dicrodon heterolepis: Oochoristica freitasi* (USNPC 100637), *Pharyngodon micrurus* (USNPC 100639); *Dicrodon holmbergi: Skrjabinodon capacyupanquii* (USNPC 100639); *Dicrodon holmbergi: Skrjabinodon capacyupanquii* (USNPC 100640).

O. fretisai was originally described from specimens taken from the small intestine of a *D. heterolepis* collected at Trujillo, Peru by Rêgo & Ibáñez (1965). The life cycle of *O. freitasi* has not been studied, but Conn (1985) reported insects to

Lizard	Helminth	Reference
Dicrodon guttulatum	Pharyngodon micrurus	this paper
	Skrjabinodon capacyupanquii	this paper
Dicrodon heterolepis	Oochoristica freitasi	Rêgo & Ibáñez (1965); this paper
	Pharyngodon micrurus	Freitas & Ibáñez (1963); this paper
	Thubunaea parkeri	this paper
Dicrodon holmbergi	Skrjabinodon capacyupanquii	Freitas et al. (1968); this paper
	Thubunaea parkeri	Baylis (1926)
Tab	le 1. Helminth species and correspondi	ng Dicrodon sp.

serve as intermediate hosts for the congener *Oochoristica anolis*.

P. micrurus was described from specimens taken from D. heterolepis also collected at Trujillo, Peru (Freitas & Ibáñez, 1963). P. micrurus is a member of the Oxyuroidea, which have direct life cycles and do not require intermediate hosts (Anderson, 2000); infection presumably occurs through ingestion of eggs. D. guttulatum is the second host known to harbour this helminth. S. capacvupanquii was described from D. holmbergi collected at Viru, Peru by Freitas et al. (1968). The mode of infection is probably similar to that of P. micrurus. D. guttulatum is the second known host to harbour S. capacyupanquii. T. parkeri was described by Baylis (1926) from specimens taken Tropidurus occidentalis (currently from Microlophus occidentalis) and Dicrodon calliscelis (currently D. heterolepis) collected in Peru. The life cycle of *T. parkeri* has not been studied but the congener *Thubunaea baylisi* presumably utilizes an insect intermediate host (Anderson, 2000).

D. guttulatum represents a new host record for *P. micrurus* and *S. capacyupanquii*; *D. heterolepis* represents a new host record for *T. parkeri*. Peru has a diverse lizard fauna consisting of over 170 species (Lehr, 2002); thus, it is of interest to note that the helminths listed in Table 1 are not shared by a large number of hosts. Subsequent studies are required to adequately characterize the helminth diversity exhibited by Peruvian lizards.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Christine Thacker (LACM) for permission to examine specimens and Tenzing Doleck (Whittier College) for assistance with dissections.

		D.	guttulatu	m		D.	heterolep	pis		D. holmbe	rgi
Helminth	Ν	Р	X±SD	Range	N	Р	X±SD	Range	N I	P X±SD	Range
Cestoda O. fretisai					1	25	1±0	_			
Nematoda P. micurus	359	40	180±180	52-307	1204	100	301±170	76-486			
S. capacyupanquii	728	100	146±181	34-468		-			1733 1	00 347±260	64-720
T. parkeri					22	50	11±7	6-16			

 Table 2. Number (N), prevalence (P), mean intensity ± 1 SD (X±SD) and range of occurrence for gastrointestinal helminths in three species of *Dicrodon* from Peru.

REFERENCES

- Anderson, R. C. (2000). Nematode Parasites of Vertebrates: Their Development and Transmission, 2nd ed. Wallingford, U.K.: CABI Publishing.
- Baylis, H. A. (1926). On a new species of the nematode genus *Thubunaea*. Ann. & Magazine of Nat. Hist. series 9 13, 309-311.
- Barus, V. &. Coy Otero, A. (1974). Nematodes of the genera *Spauligodon, Skrjabinodon* and *Pharyngodon* (Oxyuridae), parasitizing Cuban lizards. *Vest. Ceskoslovenske Spolel. Zool.* 38, 1-22.
- Conn, D. B. (1985). Life cycle and postembryonic development of *Oochoristica anolis* (Cyclophyllidea: Linstowiidae). *J. of Parasit.* 71, 10-16.
- Freitas, J. F. T., &. Ibáñez., N (1963). Fauna helmintólogica del Perú. Notas sôbre Pharyngodonidae Travassos, 1920 y descripción de *Pharyngodon micrurus* sp. n. (Nematoda, Oxyuroidea). *Rev. Univ. de Lima* 23/24, 3-10.
- Freitas, J. F. T, Vicente, J. J. & Ibáñez, N. (1968).

Fauna helmintológica del Perú: *Parathelandros capacyupanquii* sp. n., parasito de *Dicrodon holmbergi* Schmidt, 1957 (Nematoda, Oxyuroidea). *Atas da Soc. de Biol. do Rio de Janeiro* **11**, 217-219.

- Lehr, E. (2002). Amphibien und Reptilien in Peru. Die Herpetofauna entlang des 10. Breitengrades von Peru: Arterfassung, Taxonomie, ökologische Bemerkungen und Biogeographische Beziehungen. Münster, Germany: NTV Wissenschaft.
- Peters, J. A., & Orejas-Miranda B. (1986). Catalogue of the Neotropical Squamata. Part II. Lizards and Amphisbaenians. Florida: Smithsonian Institution.
- Rêgo, A. A., & Ibáñez. N. (1965). Duas novas espécies de *Oochoristica*, parasites de lagartixas do Peru (Cestoda, Anoplocephalidae). *Memor. do Inst. Oswalo Cruz* 63, 67-73.

Notes on the natural history of the eublepharid Gecko *Hemitheconyx* caudicinctus in northwestern Ghana

STEPHEN SPAWLS

7 Crostwick Lane, Spixworth, Norwich, NR10 3PE. stevespawls@hotmail.com

HEMITHECONYX is an African genus of relatively large terrestrial eublepharid geckoes. Two species are known. Hemitheconyx taylori (Fig. 1) has a small range in northern Somalia and eastern Ethiopia (Largen & Spawls, 2006). Hemitheconyx caudicinctus, the African Fat-tailed Gecko, occurs in the West African savanna. Loveridge (1947) gives its range as 'Nigeria west to Senegal' but it also occurs further east, in Cameroon. There is a specimen in the British Museum from the Adamoua massif in west-central Cameroon and Ineich (1993) lists a specimen from Garoua in the north of that country (shown as a single locality in Chirio & LeBreton [2007]).

These two clearly defined and morphologically similar species must have a recent common ancestor. So it is of zoogeographical interest that they are apparently separated by a gap of over 3000 km and a mountain range (the north-western Ethiopian plateau) largely over 2000 m high and 50-75 million years old (Mohr, 1971). *H. caudicinctus* is a large, attractive and docile lizard that is popular in the pet trade (Bartlett & Bartlett, 1999). Although it is sometimes bred in captivity, significantly large numbers are also taken from the wild. The impact of such collecting is not assessed and there are no CITES quotas (CITES, 2008).

Most of the literature on *H. caudicinctus* consists of descriptions of specimens collected and capture localities (e.g. Papenfuss, 1969; Böhme, 1975, 1978; Miles *et al.*, 1978; Bauer *et al.*, 2006; Leache *et al.*, 2006). Dunger (1968) provides some natural history notes and there are a number of studies of captive specimens,(Werner, 1972; Rösler, 1981; 1983; 1984; Kugler & Kugler, 1984).

The following natural history notes arise from a study I made of the herpetology of the 'Wa' area, northwest Ghana, between September 1979 and September 1981.

CLIMATE & STUDY SITES

Wa town is the regional capital of northwest Ghana, at longitude 02° 30' W, latitude 10° 03' N. I lived at Wa Secondary School, a government school 1.5 km southeast of the town. The vegetation of the Wa area is wooded savanna, usually described as Guinea Savanna Woodland (Survey of Ghana, 1969). White (1983) refers to it as Sudano-Zambezian savanna. Canopy cover in undisturbed Guinea Savanna is around 100% (Baker, 1962) but in the study area (see Fig. 2) the canopy was extensively reduced by exploitative agriculture to less than 2%, although a few undisturbed patches remained. The area is subjected to periodic burning in the dry season.

The only natural permanent water is the Black Volta River, 20 km west of Wa town. The topography of northwestern Ghana is a generally subdued pediplain. In the study area the altitude ranged from 320 to 370 m. About 1% of the land surface is covered with sheet outcrops or low, heavily eroded inselbergs of granodiorite, manifestation of an ancient Precambrian crystalline basement.

There is a single rainy season, with about 1000 mm of rain falling mostly between April and September. January and February are the driest months; at this time the Harmattan (a cold wind from the Sahara) blows. Daily temperatures range from 22 to 39 °C in the rainy season and 16 to 40 °C in the dry season (Wills, 1962).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Twenty-four specimens of *H. caudicinctus* were collected during the two years of the study. Twenty-one were found by driving roads at night using a motorcycle, two were found by walking at night and one was dug out of a burrow by day. An average of twelve hours per month were spent night hunting by motorcycle and at least four



Figure 1. Hemitheconyx taylori from Dagah Bur, Ethiopia.

hours per month were spent collecting on foot with a torch. The only exception were in August and September 1980 when I was absent from the area. Time and distance covered was recorded after every hunt. When specimens were captured the air temperature at one metre above the ground was usually recorded. In some cases the lizard's body temperature and the ground temperature at 1 cm depth were also recorded using a cloacal thermometer. Relative humidity was also recorded using either a whirling or a hair hygrometer. Snout-vent length (SVL), total length (TL) and mass (g) were also recorded for most specimens within a day of capture. Several specimens were maintained alive in captivity for periods up to eight months. Of the 24 captures, eight were preserved; four specimens were donated to the California Academy of Sciences, three to the Natural History Museum (London) and one to the Natural History Museum of Zimbabwe at Bulawayo. Four specimens died in captivity and were not preserved; twelve specimens were released after having a toe clipped. No recaptures were made.

RESULTS

Activty Patterns

H. caudicinctus is nocturnal. Twenty-three captures were made in 379 hrs of night hunting; this is 16.5 hrs per specimen, (0.061 specimens per hour). The data indicate that *H. caudicinctus* becomes active about an hour after sunset; sunset times in Wa

Figure 2. Guinea Savanna woodland, Wa.

varied from 17.34 hrs in November to 18.30 hrs in June. The earliest night capture was at 19.05 hrs on the 12th February 1981, fifty-five minutes after sundown. Activity continues to midnight at least. No captures were made after 23.55 hrs, although 27 hours were spent hunting after midnight. No specimens were observed above ground during daylight hours, although another species of African eublepharid, *Holodactylus africanus*, is known to show diurnal activity (Drewes, 1971).

There is some evidence that *H. caudicinctus* is more active during the rainy season than during the dry. Taking the rainy season to be those months when the median rainfall is over 50 mm, the rainy season in Wa is from April to October inclusive, dry season from November to March (Wills, 1962). While I was in Wa the only exceptions to this were a dry October 1979 (46 mm rain) and a wet March 1981, (91 mm rain).

Capture rates for the dry season months during this study were 0.6 per month (6 specimens, 10 months); for the wet season months 1.5 per month (18 specimens, 12 months) (Table 1). Nineteen out of 23 (82%) of the night captures were made either on the night following an afternoon rainstorm, or on the following night (when the humidity ranged from 60 to 95%), although out of a total of 360 night hunts, only 161 (44.6%) were on such nights. Rainfall and high humidity appear to stimulate *H. caudicinctus* to activity.

Nevertheless, this gecko is also active during very dry months. Two specimens were collected in

Capture Rates

Time	17.00-17.59	18.00-18.59	19.00-19.59	20.00-20.59	21.00-21.59	22.00-22.59	23.00-23.59	24.00-06.00
No. Capt.	0	0	8	4	4	5	2	0
Hrs hunte	d 19	31	49	88	76	56	33	27
Capt. rate	s/hr 0	0	0.163	0.045	0.053	0.089	0.061	0

Table 1. Hemitheconyx caudicinctus capture rates over 24 hr.

February 1981; both were active at night. There was no measurable rainfall that month or the month before. Relative humidity for the specimen collected on 12th February was 29%, and 17% for the one taken on the 27th February; no traceable rain had fallen in 62 and 77 days respectively prior to the date of capture. Joger (1982) reports collecting 3 specimens in January, which is generally the driest month in West Africa. Böhme (1978) suggested that *H. caudicinctus* aestivates during the dry season, relying upon the fat reserves in its tail.

In Wa, nocturnal snake activity was greatly reduced during the dry season. Significant activity during this time was noted for only two species (*Echis ocellatus* and *Telescopus variegatus*), out of the 37 snake species recorded in the area (Spawls, 1992). These two species are essentially inhabitants of the Sahel, which has lower humidity and night time temperatures than the moister woodland further south.

Table 2 shows temperature and relative humidity data for the 20 captures where at least one temperature value (air, body, substrate) was recorded. The mean midnight temperature at Wa was 25.8 °C. Fifteen captures were made at air temperatures above this. Decline in temperature may explain the apparent cessation of activity after midnight. However, H. caudicinctus can tolerate lower temperatures. Four individuals were taken when the air temperature was below 25.8 °C, all on rainy season nights while feeding on emerging alate termites. In all cases (where recorded) the body temperature was found to lie between the air temperature and the substrate temperature, as is usual for nocturnal reptiles (Pianka, 1977). Werner (1976) notes that, in terms of temperature sensitivity, the optimal range for this species is

Capture Date	Capture Time	Air Temp. °C	Body Temp. °C	Substrate Temp. °C	RH %
04 02 1980	21.30 hrs	28.0	-	-	23
12 04 1980	23.55 hrs	30.1	-	31.1	54
15 04 1980	20.30 hrs	31.6	-	-	56
15 04 1980	21.50 hrs	30.0	-	-	65
08 11 1980	19.00 hrs	28.9	29.2	29.9	64
12 02 1981	19.05 hrs	30.6	31.1	31.8	29
27 02 1981	23.05 hrs	29.8	-	-	17
06 03 1981	19.45 hrs	27.9	28.2	-	64
25 03 1981	22.04 hrs	31.7	-	-	41
27 03 1981	21.10 hrs	24.2	26.6	27.1	75
28 03 1981	22.15 hrs	28.8	-	-	60
28 03 1981	22.25 hrs	28.7	28.8	29.6	60
11 05 1981	19.20 hrs	27.5	28.6	30.1	73
27 05 1981	19.55 hrs	22.2	24.1	-	95
28 05 1981	19.30 hrs	30.3	32.2	-	63
19 06 1981	20.10 hrs	27.2	28.0	29.1	75
02 07 1981	21.20 hrs	24.4	-	-	92
14 07 1981	19.48 hrs	27.6	29.1	30.0	69
17 07 1981	20.15 hrs	22.5	24.6	25.1	93
21 07 1981	19.40 hrs	26.3	-	-	76

Table 2. Hemitheconyx caudicinctus ambient air temperature, body temperature, and substratre temperature.



Snout-vent length v mass Hemitheconyx caudicinctus

Figure 3. A sample of Meristic data for 15 collected Hemitheconyx caudicintus.

28-33 °C; between dusk and midnight the temperature of most nights in Wa was between 26 and 33 °C, with the exception of nights at the end of the rainy season (Spawls, 1992). The individual captured on the night of 17th July 1981 attempted to escape into a hole; Joger (1981) has recorded similar evasion behaviour. The burrows may also be used as heat sources/buffers. Earth temperatures at 30 cm depth at Wa weather station ranged between 27.9 and 33.3 °C over the two years of this study.

Meristic Data

Fig. 3 shows mass against snout-vent length for 15 of the specimens collected. The largest individual was 196 (141 + 55) mm in length; mass was 56.2 g. Loveridge (1947) and Dunger (1968) note larger individuals, of 210 (130+80) and 198 (155+43) mm respectively. The smallest Wa individual was 60 (48+12) mm; tail truncated, mass 2.13 g, captured in late March 1981. This was probably a hatchling, as captive hatchlings were recorded

varying from 1.2-2.5 g and 6.3 to 7.0 total length (Kugler & Kugler, 1984). Eight of the fifteen individuals measured had their original tails; these could be identified as being thin, uniformly banded, 35-43% of total length. Seven individuals had regenerated tails, which were stumpy, grossly swollen, colours discontinuous and less than 30% of total length.

Colour

There is some variation in colour amongst the Wa *H. caudicinctus* (Fig. 4). All specimens had a dark patch stretching from the orbit to the nape of the neck and two dark brown or black bars across the dorsal surface. Between these patches, skin colour varied from deep red brown to bright orange, juveniles had a tendency to be orange. The tail was banded in orange, white, black and brown; some juveniles had blue bands. Seven of the 24 individuals had a prominent white dorsal stripe from between the eyes to the base of the tail (see Front Cover, this edition). One juvenile had a

poorly developed stripe (Fig. 5); sixteen had no stripe. Dunger (1968) states that only males have this stripe, but the gravid female captured was striped. Subsequent examination of specimens in the Natural History Museum (London) indicated that either sex may be striped, or unstriped.

Habitat Selection

Twenty-three captures were made in flat or gently sloping open savanna; the local habitat. Twenty captures were at distances greater than 500 m from the nearest rock outcroppings; four were more than 5 km from the nearest outcroppings. One specimen was found within the confines of a sheet rock outcrop, but was on soil, not on the actual rock surface. These data conflict with Loveridge's (1947) description of the habitat as 'between



Figure 4. *Hemitheconyx caudicinctus* exhibiting dorsal colour variation.

inside the branch to a height of about 30 cm. The female captured in daytime was dug out of an underground chamber of approximately 20 cm in diameter, at the end of a rodent burrow 1.3 m in length, and with a maximum depth of 60 cm. The final 40 cm of the burrow ascended into the chamber, the top of which was 35 cm below the surface and contained dried grass and rodent fur. In the study area, no *H. caudicinctus* were ever found under rocks or any other ground cover (logs, vegetation heaps, building debris) although a large number of such objects (always over 200 per month, often many more) were routinely turned

rocks', and Dunger's (1968) statement that they are found 'in or near rocks'. Böhme (1975) mentions two specimens found at a fissured stone wall. An average of two hours per week, over 150 hours total, were spent on the granodiorite outcroppings at night, studying a colony of Ptyodactylus ragazzi, but no *H. caudicinctus* were seen on the rocks. They seem to prefer open savanna and are terrestrial, as are other eublepharid geckoes. Rösler (1984) examined the location of H. caudicinctus during unhurried movement, noting that the legs are greatly extended and the ventral surface touches the ground. He concluded that this gecko is strongly adapted to a terrestrial way of life. This is supported by my field observations in Wa, although two captive specimens utilised a hollow branch placed vertically in the cage as a refuge, ascending



Figure 5. *H. caudicinctus* juvenile exhibiting prominent white dorsal stripe.

during collecting activities. It would seem that the Wa specimens of *H. caudicinctus* shelter in holes, as does *H. taylori* (Largen & Spawls, 2006).

Breeding & Courtship

Rösler (1983) states that during courtship *H. caudicinctus* uses mostly visual cues, and believes this is characteristic of diurnal species, which initially seems odd considering that in Wa the species appears to be totally nocturnal. Rösler (1983) documents three aspects of courtship behaviour; tail waving, vibration of the body and vibration of the tail. However, the latter two are

presumably audible. Werner (1976) noted that, out of 14 taxa of gecko examined, including four eublepharids, *H. caudicinctus* had the most sensitive hearing.

A female weighing 10.8 g, length 126 (100 + 26) mm, captured on 28th March 1981 laid one egg on 16th April 1981. The egg was 2.3 x 1.2 cm; mass 1.8 g. The eggshell was soft and pliable, as is typical for eublepharid geckoes. The egg was incubated, but failed to hatch. Werner (1972) records an egg size of 2.7 x 1.3 cm. Captive specimens laid five batches of two eggs each in an interval of approximately 6 months (Kugler & Kugler, 1984). Castellenos (2008) states that up to eight clutches a year, of 1 or 2 eggs, may be laid by captive specimens. The specimen donated to the NMZB, collected on 25th March 1981, contained 2 unshelled ova (D. G. Broadley, pers. comm.). Joger (1981) states that the maturation of the eggs takes place during the later half of the dry season (i.e. January to March) and this is supported by Rösler's (1983) records, but the Wa hatchling was captured in late March. Werner's (1972) specimen had laid shortly before 27th December and Kugler & Kugler's (1984) specimens laid their five clutches between April and July. In captivity, H. caudicinctus digs a small hole to deposit its eggs (Rösler, 1983). Egg-laying behaviour in wild specimens is apparently not documented.

Population Density, Ecology & Diet

In light of the number of specimens collected for the pet trade, some values of the population density of *H. caudicinctus* may be useful. No intensive searching specifically for this species was carried out; all captures were made during general herpetological searching. However, twenty-three of the specimens found were within an area of 9 km², giving a density of 2.5 per km². Seventeen of these were within an area of 2.2 km², and eleven specimens were found in an area of 1 km². This is liable to be an underestimate of the true population density.

Twenty species of lizard were recorded in the Wa area during the survey. Of these, four were geckoes; *H. caudicinctus*, *P. ragazzi*, *Hemidactylus angulatus* and *Tarentola ephippiata*. *P. ragazzi* was found only on sheet rock and inselbergs, it is entirely rupicolous. Only a single specimen of

Tarentola ephippiata was found, it was on a road at night, but this species is normally arboreal, showing a predilection for Fig trees (Dunger, 1968). *H. angulatus* was common throughout the study area, active at similar times and was also found on the ground. Niche overlap with *H. caudicinctus* is unlikely, however. *H. angulatus* is a faster-moving, much smaller species, (the largest individual had a snout-vent length 60 mm and mass 6.2 g), it climbs trees and will live on building walls.

No *H. caudicinctus* were found in the stomachs of the approximately 480 snakes collected in the area, and no evidence of direct predation on the species was found. The individual collected on 11th May 1981 at 19.20 hrs was observed for fifteen minutes before capture, it was on a dirt road close to a barn owl (*Tyto alba*) and a pearl-spotted owlet (*Glaucidium perlatum*). Although these two owl species are known to eat lizards in southern Africa (Maclean, 1985), both birds and the gecko were feeding on emerging alate termites. Captive specimens were fed wild-caught grasshoppers, crickets and termites.

Defence

When I approached H. caudicinctus at night with a torch or motorcycle headlamp, they either froze as soon as the beam touched them, or ran away. Those that froze responded when approached closely by either pressing themselves to the ground, or running as I stooped to pick them up. If picked up, they gyrated and some individuals bit. Captive specimens approached in the daylight responded with a threat display. They stood up as tall as possible, stiff-legged, and then slowly curled the tail up into the air, Carpenter & Ferguson (1977) call this the 'high stand and tail wave'. If touched, these geckoes would lash simultaneously with both head and tail at the hand, at the same time producing a single loud hiss. They would then move away obliquely, with mouth open, hissing more quietly. If held, they would bite. Both freshly caught and captive individuals, when biting, would gyrate clockwise and anticlockwise, alternating rapidly; Dunger (1968) noted similar behaviour. A bite from an adult H. caudicinctus on a human hand is strong enough to draw blood; the gyrations with locked jaws can tear human skin; these actions would be an effective defence against a small predator. Violent combat between males, resulting in the death of an individual, has been observed in captivity (Kugler & Kugler, 1984). Rösler (1983) states that during courtship the male frequently bites the female on the tail, sides and neck, sometimes causing wounds.

Local Knowledge

The Dagarti and Wali people of the Wa area were greatly afraid of this gecko, believing it to be highly venomous. When the specimen was dug out of a hole in daylight, the observers objected strongly to prevent me picking it up. My science students refused to hold or even touch specimens. When asked to explain why I was able to freely handle the specimens, they argued that its venom was selective in whom it could hurt. Durrell (1954) encountered similar arguments regarding a West African skink, Lygosoma fernandi. The Dagarti name for H. caudicinctus in Wa is 'Jenibasi', which is said to mean 'your skin drops off'. Local people believed that if this gecko bit someone, the victim's skin would begin to fall off fairly rapidly, and sometimes change colour, to be followed by death. This suggests confusion with some snakes that exhibit tissue destroying venom that causes local discoloration, for example the puff adder, Bitis arietans. However, in much of the Arab world, geckoes are associated with leprosy and skin disease, and thus such local beliefs might be based on observations of geckoes shedding their skin.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank Aaron Bauer, Wolfgang Böhme, Don Broadley, Bob Drewes, Barry Hughes, Ulrich Joger, Herbert Rösler, John Rudge and Yehudah Werner, who kindly supplied me with literature, an unknown referee, and also Bill Branch, who read the initial draft of this paper (a long time ago) and made many helpful suggestions. My thanks also to Ronald Auerbach, Job De Graaf and the late Jeanne Sheriff, who translated papers for me, the late Garth Underwood, for his time and expertise at the Natural History Museum in London. In Ghana I thank S. K. Woryoe and Omane Twumasi, of the Ghanaian meteorological department at Accra and Wa, my teaching colleagues Jakalia Abdulai and Mohammed Salia, and my students, in particular Richard Azeikho and Mahama Seidu Pelp, at Wa Secondary School, for their local knowledge and assistance in the field, and finally my wife Laura, for her forbearance, field assistance and tolerance of many collecting trips on the back of a rickety motorcycle in the Ghanaian night.

REFERENCES

- Baker, H. G. (1962). The ecological study of vegetation in Ghana. In: *Agriculture and land use in Ghana*. J. B. Wills (Ed). London: Oxford University Press.
- Bartlett, R. D. & Bartlett, P. (1999). *Leopard and Fat-tailed Geckos*. New York: Barron's publications.
- Bauer, A. M., Tchibozo, S., Pauwels, O. S. G., & Lenglet, G. (2006). A review of the gekkotan lizards of Bénin, with a description of a new species of *Hemidactylus* (Squamata: Gekkonidae). *Zootaxa* **1242**, 1-20.
- Böhme, W. (1975). Zur Herpetofaunistik Kameruns, mit Beschreibung eines neune scinciden. *Bonn. Zool. Beitr.* **26**, 2-48.
- Böhme, W. (1978). Zur Herpetofaunistik des Senegal. *Bonn. Zool. Beitr.* **29**, 360-417.
- Castellanos, C. (2008). African fat tail gecko *Hemitheconyx caudicinctus*. www.progeckoes. com/care sheet/fat_tail.pdf. (accessed June 2008).
- Carpenter, C. C. & Ferguson, G. W. (1977). Variation and evolution of stereotyped behaviour in reptiles. In: *Biology of the Reptilia Volume 7*, pp. 335-554, C. Gans (Ed), London: Academic Press.
- Chirio, L & LeBreton, M. (2007). *Atlas des reptiles du Cameroun*. Paris, Museum national d'Histoire naturelle, IRD.
- CITES (2008). *Hemitheconyx*. www.cites.org/ resource/quotas. (accessed June 2008).
- Drewes, R. C. (1971). Notes on the distribution of *Holodactylus africanus* Boettger. J. E. African. Nat. Hist. Soc. Natl. Mus. (Nairobi). 28 (126), 1-3.
- Dunger, G. T. (1968). The Lizards and snakes of Nigeria. Part 4: The geckos of Nigeria. *The Nigerian Field* 33 (1), 18-47.
- Durrell, G. (1954). *The Bafut Beagles*. London, Rupert Hart-Davis.

- Ineich, I. (1993). *Hemitheconyx caudicinctus*. (Geographic distribution). *Herpetol. Rev.* **24** (2), 67.
- Joger, U. (1981). Zur herpetofaunistik Westafrikas. Bonn. Zool. Beit. **32** (3-4), 297-340.
- Joger, U. (1982). Zur herpetofaunistik Kameruns (II). *Bonn. Zool. Beit.* **33** (2-4): 313-342.
- Kugler, H & Kugler, R. (1984). Nachzucht in zweiter Generation bei *Hemitheconyx caudicinctus* (Duméril 1851). *Salamandra* 20 (4), 270-272.
- Largen, M. J. & Spawls, S. (2006). Lizards of Ethiopia (Reptilia Sauria): an annotated checklist, bibliography, gazetteer and identification key. *Trop. Zool.* **19**, 21-109.
- Leaché, A. M., Rödel, M. O., Linkem, C. W., Diaz,
 R. E., Hillers, A. & Fujita, M. K. (2006).
 Biodiversity in a forest island: reptiles and amphibians of the West African Togo Hills. *Amph. Rept. Cons.* 4, 22-45.
- Loveridge, A. (1947). Revision of the African lizards of the family Gekkonidae. *Bull. Mus. Comp. Zool.* **98** (1), 1-469.
- Maclean, G. L. (1985). *Robert's Birds of Southern Africa.* Cape Town: John Voelcker Bird Book Fund.
- Miles, M. A., Thomson, A. G. & Walters, G. W. (1978). Amphibians and reptiles from the vicinity of Boughari, Casamance (Senegal), and the Gambia. *Bull. Inst. Fond. Afrique Noir.* **40**. Ser A, 437-456.
- Mohr, P. A. (1971). *The Geology of Ethiopia*. Addis Ababa: Haile Sellassie I University Press.
- Papenfuss, T. J. (1969). Preliminary analysis of the reptiles of arid central West Africa. *Wassmann J. Biol.* 27, 249-325.
- Pianka, E. R. (1977). Reptilian species diversity.In: *Biology of the Reptilia: Volume 7*. pp. 1-34,C. Gans (Ed). London: Academic Press.
- Rösler, H. (1981). Erfolg und Misserfolg bei der Vermehrung von *Hemitheconyx caudicinctus*. *Elaphe* 81, 49-54.
- Rösler, H. (1983). Ervaringen met de gecko Hemitheconyx caudicinctus (1). Lacerta 42, 8-11.
- Rösler, H. (1984). Ervaringen met de gecko *Hemitheconyx caudicinctus* (2). Voortbeweging en slaapgedrag. *Lacerta* 42, 170-177.

- Spawls, S. (1992). Activity patterns in nocturnal West African savanna snakes. *J. Herpetol. Assoc. Afr.* **40**, 61-66.
- Survey of Ghana. (1969). Portfolio of Ghana maps. Accra, survey of Ghana.
- Werner, Y. L. (1972) Observations on eggs of eublepharid lizards, with comments on the evolution of the Gekkonoidea. *Zool. Meded.* 47, 211-225.
- Werner, Y. L. (1976) Optimal temperatures for Inner-ear performance in Gekkonid Lizards. J. Exp. Zool. 195, 319-352.
- White F. (1983). The vegetation of Africa, a descriptive memoir to accompany the UNESCO-AETFAT-UNSO vegetation map of Africa. Paris: UNESCO.
- Wills, J. B. (1962). *Agriculture and Land Use in Ghana*. London: Oxford University Press.

Significant range extension for the Central American Colubrid snake Ninia pavimentata (Bocourt 1883)

JOSIAH H. TOWNSEND^{1,7}, J. MICHAEL BUTLER³, LARRY DAVID WILSON², LORRAINE P. KETZLER⁴, JOHN SLAPCINSKY⁵, and NATHANIEL M. STEWART⁶

¹ School of Natural Resources and Environment, and Florida Museum of Natural History, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida 32611-7800, USA

² Instituto Regional de Biodiversidad (IRBio), Centro Zamorano de Biodiversidad, Escuela Agrícola Panamericana Zamorano, Departamento de Francisco Morazán, Honduras

³ Department of Wildlife Ecology and Conservation and Florida Museum of Natural History, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida 32611–0430, USA

⁴ Voluntaria de Cuerpo de Paz, San Isidro, Santa Cruz de la Yojoa, Departamento de Cortés, Honduras

⁵ Division of Malacology, Florida Museum of Natural History, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida 32611-7800, USA

⁶ Science Department, Lincoln Middle School, 1001 SE 12th Street, Gainesville, Florida 32641, USA

⁷ Author for correspondence: jtwnsnd@ufl.edu

ABSTRACT — The second specimen of the snake *Ninia pavimentata* is reported from Honduras, significantly extending the known distribution of the species. This record reduces the distributional gap between this species and its presumed sister taxon, *Ninia maculata*, while supporting their continued recognition as distinct species. Relative measurements, scale counts, and pattern descriptions are provided.

NINIA pavimentata (Bocourt 1883) is a small semifossorial snake reported from pine-oak and cloud forest areas in central Guatemala, as well as from a single locality in northwestern Honduras (Smith & Campbell, 1996; Townsend et al., 2005). Until recently, this species was considered a synonym of Ninia maculata (Peters, 1861), a situation clarified by Smith & Campbell (1996), who resurrected N. pavimentata to species level on the basis of non-overlapping segmental other morphological count ranges and characteristics. The distributions of N. maculata and N. pavimentata are presently known to be separated by a 315 airline km gap in Honduras, with N. pavimentata reaching its easternmost known distribution in the Sierra de Omoa, outside of Parque Nacional Cusuco, Depto. de Cortés (15°30'N, 88°11'W), 1250 m elevation, and N. maculata its northernmost known locality at Quebrada Machín, Reserva de la Biósfera Río Plátano, Depto. Colón (15°19'N, 85°17'W), 540 m

elevation (McCranie *et al.*, 2001; Townsend *et al.*, 2005).

On 10 April 2008, a female *Ninia pavimentata* (Florida Museum of Natural History [UF] 152810; Figure 1) was collected from under a rock at the edge of a fragment of cleared cloud forest in Refugio de Vida Silvestre Texiguat ($15^{\circ}26.502$ 'N, $87^{\circ}18.092$ 'W), 1715 m elevation, Departamento de Yoro, Honduras. This habitat is similar to that of the localities of most *N. pavimentata* specimens, which have been collected between 1120 and 1825 meters from pine-oak or cloud forest (Smith & Campbell, 1996), and to the disturbed habitat (a shade *cafetal*) where the other Honduran specimen originated.

Relevant measurements and scale counts for UF 152810 are as follows: snout-vent length 131 mm, tail length 47 mm, ventrals 141, subcaudals 72, segmental count 213, supralabials 7/7, infralabials 7/7, temporals 1+2, postoculars 2/2. The specimen possessed 39 dorsal crossbands on

its left side, 3 of which split in half at the middorsal scale row and continue onto the right side as two bands. The ventrals exhibited a boldly checkered pattern. These characteristics fall within the known variation in *N. pavimentata* (Smith & Campbell, 1996; Townsend *et al.*, 2005), providing further evidence for the specific status of this taxon.

This record extends the known range of *Ninia* pavimentata approximately 65 airline km east from its known distribution. The new locality also narrows the geographic gap between *N. pavimentata* and its most similar congener and presumed sister taxon, *N. maculata*, to approximately 250 airline km. This gap in distribution is consistent with gaps

documented in other snake taxa, and was termed the "Honduran hiatus" by Savage & Crother (1989) in their review of the colubrid genus *Pliocercus* in Central America.

The semi-fossorial colubrid *Rhadinaea decorata* has long been known to occur from Mexico to Guatemala, and from Nicaragua to Ecuador, but was unknown from Honduras until discovered in La Mosquitia in 2004 (McCranie, 2004). This is also the case for the terrestrial colubrid *Dendrophidion vinitor*, which was finally reported from Honduras in 2003. Additionally, the colubrid taxon *Scaphiodontophis venustissimus* was recently resurrected from synonymy with *Scaphiodontophis annulatus*, based on evidence



Figure 1. Female *Ninia pavimentata* (UF 152810), Refugio de Vida Silvestre Texiguat (15°26.502'N, 87°18.092'W), 1715 m elevation, Depto. de Yoro, Honduras. Photograph by JHT.

from recently collected specimens in eastern Honduras, yet another distributional "hiatus" that had previously been hypothesized as a zone of integration between the two forms by Savage & Slowinski (1996). This region contains contact zones between closely related species of *Scaphiodontophis* (McCranie, 2006) and the aforementioned *Ninia*, where species in both genera maintain diagnosable species boundaries and exhibit no evidence of integration in morphological characteristics. Continued field work in this area may reveal additional taxa supporting this biogeographic pattern.

RESUMEN

Se reporta para Honduras el segundo espécimen de la serpiente *Ninia pavimentata,* ampliando significativamente la distribución conocida para esta especie. Este registro reduce la separación entre esta especie y su supuesto taxón hermano, *Ninia maculata,* mientras que al mismo tiempo sustenta su reconocimiento como especies distintas. Se proveen las medidas relativas, conteo de escamas, y descripciones del patrón.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Fieldwork was supported by a grant from the Critical Ecosystem Partnership Fund (CEPF); logistical support for our work in Honduras was arranged by Jorge Iván Restrepo (IRBio). Additional support was provided by the Reptile and Amphibian Conservation Corps (RACC). Carla Cárcamo de Martínez and Iris Acosta (Departamento de Areas Protegidas y Vida Silvestre) assisted in the acquisition of permits for exportation and fieldwork was completed under permits AFE-COHDEFOR Resolución GG-MP-055-2006 and Dictamen DAPVS 0091-2006. Ileana R. Luque-Montes kindly translated the resumen.

REFERENCES

- Bocourt, M. F. (1883). In: Études sur les Reptiles. Mission Scientifique au Mexique et dans l'Amérique Centrale. Recherches Zoologiques pour servir à l'Histoire de la Fauna de l'Amérique Centrale et du Mexique. Troisième Partie.—1^{re} Section. pp. 1870–1909, A. H. A. Duméril, M. F. Bocourt & F. Mocquard (Eds), Paris: Texte. Imprimerie Nationale.
- McCranie, J. R. (2004). Geographic distribution. *Rhadinaea decorata. Herpetol. Rev.* **35**, 294.
- McCranie, J. R. (2006). Northeastern Honduras

and the systematics of the colubrid snake *Scaphiodontophis. Carib. J. Sci.* **42**, 136–138.

- McCranie, J. R., Wilson, L. D. & Gotte, S. W. (2001). Three new country records for Honduran snakes. *Herp. Rev.* 32, 62–63.
- Peters, W. (1861). Mittheilung über neue Schlangen des königlichen zoologischen Museums. *Monats. Akad. Wiss.* Berlin 1861, 922–925.
- Savage, J. M. & Crother, B. E. (1989). The status of *Pliocercus* and *Urotheca* (Serpentes: Colubridae), with a review of included species of coral snake mimics. *Zool. J. Linn. Soc.* **95**, 335–362.
- Savage, J. M. & Slowinski, J. B. (1996). Evolution of coloration, urotomy and coral snake mimicry in the snake genus *Scaphiodontophis* (Serpentes: Colubridae). *Biol. J. Linnean Soc.* 57, 129– 194.
- Smith, B. E. & Campbell, J. A. (1996). The systematic status of Guatemalan populations of snakes allied with *Ninia maculata* (Reptilia: Colubridae). *Proc. Biol. Soc. Washington.* 109, 749–754.
- Townsend, J. H, Wilson, L. D., Plenderleith, T. L., Talley, B. L. & Nifong, J. C. (2005). *Ninia pavimentata* (Squamata: Colubridae): an addition to the snake fauna of Honduras. *Carib. J. Sci.* **41**, 869–870.

Predation on Italian newt larva, *Lissotriton italicus* (Amphibia, Caudata, Salamandridae), by *Agabus bipustulatus* (Insecta, Coleoptera, Dytiscidae)

LUIGI CORSETTI¹ and GIANLUCA NARDI²

¹ Via Adige, 45. I-04100 Latina, Italy.

² Centro Nazionale per lo Studio e la Conservazione della Biodiversità Forestale - Corpo Forestale dello Stato. Strada Mantova, 29. I-46045 Marmirolo (MN), Italy.

² Author for correspondence: l_nardi@hotmail.com

ABSTRACT — Predation of a larva of *Lissotriton italicus* by adults of a diving beetle (*Agabus bipustulatus*) on the Aurunci Mountains (central Italy, Latium region) is recorded. This is the first identified invertebrate predator of this Italian endemic newt. The possible role of this beetle in the local demographic control of the newt is briefly discussed.

THE Italian Newt, *Lissotriton italicus* (Peracca), previously referred to the genus Triturus (Rafinesque), is endemic to central and southern Italy. The northern most limits of its distribution include an oblique area extended from the Ancona province (Marches region) South to Lepini Mountains (Latium region, Rome province), on the Adriatic and Tyrrhenian sides of the Apennines, respectively (Corsetti et al., 2005; Balletto, 2006; Scillitani et al., 2006; Scillitani & Tripepi, 2007). It is a euryoecious species living in a wide range of habitats, from the sea level up to 2000 m, which should be considered endangered since over 30% of the known populations have disappeared over the last 10 years (Scillitani et al., 2006; Scillitani & Tripepi, 2007). Its ecology was recently the subject of various studies (cf. Corsetti, 2000b; Scillitani et al., 2004, 2006; Scillitani & Tripepi, 2007), even though "specific predators are not known, but fishes, other species of newts, water snakes, dragonfly nymphs and hydroadephagous coleoptera can prey upon both larvae and adults" (Scillitani et al., 2004: 51).

On 13th June 1995, during field research on the herpetofauna of the Aurunci Mountains (Latium region) (Corsetti, 2000a; 2000b; 2004), many larvae of *L. italicus*, close to metamorphosis (body length 30-40 mm), were found in a small muddy residual pond, about 1 m across and 15 cm deep, located in an open *Quercus pubescens* wood (Latina province, Castelforte, Monte Siola W-SW slope, 240 m a.s.l). No other amphibians occurred in the pond, which was probably feebly trickle fed by a very small spring. In this pond about 15 adults of a predaceous diving beetle, Agabus bipustulatus (Linnaeus) (Insecta, Coleoptera, Dytiscidae) were observed attacking a larva of the Italian Newt. The larva was initially attacked by a single beetle that was quickly followed by the others and was devoured, almost completely, in about 10-15 seconds. A. bipustulatus is the commonest and one of the most widespread Italian dytiscids; it is a very good flyer and euryoecious (Franciscolo, 1979; Rocchi, 2006), generalist predator and scavenger (Bosi, 2001). It also commonly colonizes some breeding sites of L. italicus of Latium, which are chiefly (60%) artificial water bodies such as fountains, livestock drinking pools, stone wells and tanks (Corsetti, 2000b, 2004; Corsetti et al., 2005). Killings of amphibian larvae by dytiscids are obviously well known (cf. Franciscolo, 1979). A. bipustulatus is one of the very few 'large' dytiscids (body length 9.5-11.6 mm) syntopic with L. italicus in Latium (Corsetti & Nardi, unpublished), and thus could play a role in the local demographic control of Italian Newt larvae.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We express our gratitude to Prof. Marco A. Bologna (Università degli Studi "Roma Tre",

Rome) and to Dr. Daniel Whitmore (Centro Nazionale per lo Studio e la Conservazione della Biodiversità Forestale, Marmirolo) for the scientific and linguistic revision of the manuscript, respectively.

REFERENCES

- Balletto, E. (2006). Amphibia and Reptilia. In: Checklist and Distribution of the Italian Fauna. 10,000 Terrestrial and Inland Water Species. pp. 281-284, S. Ruffo & F. Stoch (Eds.). Mem. Mus. Civ. St. Nat. Verona, 2 serie, Sez: Scienze della Vita 17.
- Bosi, G. (2001). Observations on colymbetinae predation based on crop contents analysis in three species: *Agabus bipustulatus, Ilybius subaeneus, Rhantus suturalis* (Coleoptera Dytiscidae). *Bol. Soc. Entomol. Ital.* **133**, 37-42.
- Corsetti, L. (2000a). Habitat e attività riproduttiva in *Salamadrina terdigitata* (Lacépèce, 1788) nel Lazio meridionale (Italia meridionale). *Riv. Idrobiol.* **38**, 381-387.
- Corsetti, L. (2000b). Caratteristiche ambientali dei siti riproduttivi di *Triturus italicus* (Peracca, 1898) nel Lazio (Italia centrale). *Riv. Idrobiol.* 38, 459-455.
- Corsetti, L. (2004). Distribuzione e preferenze ambientali degli anfibi urodeli del Lazio meridionale (Italia centrale). 5° Congresso Nazionale Societas Herpetologica Italica, Calci, Pisa, 29 settembre - 3 ottobre 2004, Riassunti. Università di Pisa, Centro Interdipartimentale,

Museo di Storia Naturale e del Territorio, Pisa.

- Corsetti, L., Ragno, R. & Romano, A. (2005). *Triturus italicus* (Peracca, 1898) in the Lepini Mountains: new north-western range limit. *Herpetozoa*. **18**, 87-88.
- Franciscolo, M. E. (1979). Fauna d'Italia XIV. Coleoptera Haliplidae, Hygrobiidae, Dytiscidae, Gyrinidae. Bologna: Calderini.
- Rocchi, S. (2006). Insecta Coleoptera Hydroadephaga. In: *Checklist and Distribution* of the Italian fauna. 10,000 terrestrial and Inland Water Species. pp. 165-166, S. Ruffo & F. Stoch (Eds.). Mem. Mus. Civ. St. Nat. Verona, 2. serie, Sez: Scienze della Vita 17.
- Scillitani, G., Scalera, R., Carafa, M., & Tripepi, S. (2004). Conservation and biology of *Triturus italicus* (Peracca, 1898) in Italy. In: *The Conservation Status of Threatened Amphibian and Reptile Species of Italian Fauna*. M. A. Bologna, & S. La Posta (Eds.). *Ital. Jour. of Zool.* **71** (1), 45-54.
- Scillitani, G. & Tripepi, S. (2007). Lissotriton italicus (Peracca, 1898), In: Fauna d'Italia, XLII. Amphibia. pp. 226-229, B. Lanza, F. Andreone, M. A. Bologna, C. Corti & F. Razzetti (Eds.). Bologna: Calderini.
- Scillitani, G., Tripepi, S. & Giacoma, C. (2006). *Triturus italicus* (Peracca, 1898), In: *Atlante degli Anfibi e Rettili d'Italia / Atlas of Italian Amphibians and Reptiles*. pp. 226-229, R. Sindaco, G. Doria, E. Razzetti & F. Bernini (Eds.). Firenze: Societas Herpetologica Italica, Edizioni Polistampa.

Behaviour, time management, and foraging modes of a West Indian Racer, *Alsophis sibonius*

LAUREN A.WHITE¹, PETER J. MUELLEMAN², ROBERT W. HENDERSON³, and ROBERT POWELL⁴

¹ Environmental Science Program, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma 74078, USA

² Department of Biology, Truman State University, Kirksville, Missouri 63501, USA

³ Section of Vertebrate Zoology, Milwaukee Public Museum, Milwaukee, WI 53233, USA

⁴ Department of Biology, Avila University, Kansas City, MO 64145, USA

⁴ Corresponding author: robert.powell@avila.edu

A LSOPHIS sibonius (Fig. 1), formerly considered a subspecies of Alsophis antillensis (Hedges *et al.*, submitted), is a West Indian Racer endemic to Dominica, Lesser Antilles.

Common habitat associations include rain forest, rain forest edges, coastal scrub, mountain pastures, mangrove edges, deciduous forests, and orchards/plantations. High densities appear to occur in areas with abundant rocks (Schwartz & Henderson, 1991). These snakes are predominantly diurnal, with activity peaks at mid-morning and late afternoon (Malhotra & Thorpe, 1999; Muelleman *et al.*, submitted). Henderson & Sajdak (1996) indicated that species of *Alsophis* primarily consume lizards, particularly anoles, but eat other vertebrates including frogs, other snakes, birds, and rodents.

Snakes in the genus *Alsophis* once were known to occur on more than 100 islands from the Bahamas through Dominica in the Lesser Antilles (Henderson & Sajdak, 1996). Due to habitat degradation, human persecution, and the introduction of invasive Indian mongoose (*Herpestes javanicus*) and Black rat (*Rattus rattus*), they have undergone 'more extirpations and extinctions than any other reptilian or amphibian genus in the region' (Barun *et al.*, 2007).

Several Lesser Antillean species, including *Alspohis antiguae, Alsophis rijgersmaei*, and *Alsophis rufiventris*, are considered threatened or endangered (Daltry *et al.*, 2001; Henderson & Powell, 2009). Despite the wide distribution of these snakes, little is known about their daily activity and time management.

The purpose of this study was to investigate the daily activity, time allotment, and foraging modes of *A. sibonius*.

METHODS AND MATERIALS

From 6-24th June 2008, we conducted focal animal observations along established trails in Cabrits National Park, Dominica. The area was clear-cut by British troops during the 18th and 19th centuries for the construction and occupation of Fort Shirley. Since 1850, the fort has been largely abandoned, and the forest has recovered to form a xeric woodland. The annual average temperature is 26 °C, with average rainfall of 1870 mm. January through June is classified as the dry season. The canopy is moderately dense, with little sunlight reaching the forest floor except during the dry season, when the deciduous trees that dominate the area shed their leaves. At least 40 species of trees have been identified within the park, with Lonchocarpus latifolius the most common. The polychrotid lizard Anolis oculatus is abundant, especially near ruins and rock outcrops. Although Anolis lizards of Cabrits are well adapted to the forest environment and utilize trees for escape, they frequently forage on the forest floor.

Habitats along trails provided visibility that facilitated observations of snakes without disturbing them (Heinz *et al.*, 2004). Once a snake was identified and clearly had not responded to the observer, we conducted focal observations of 5–22 min. Observations were terminated after 15 min or when the snake was lost from view or reacted to the observer's presence. When snakes were



Figure 1. Dominican Racer (*Alsophis sibonius*) adult (top) and juvenile (below). Photographs by Jeffrey W. Ackley and Robert Powell.



engaged in recognizable feeding or foraging behaviour, observation times were extended. We recorded time using an iPod (Apple, Inc., Cupertino, California 95014, USA) stopwatch feature capable of separately monitoring movements and stationary periods within a single session.

We conducted focal observations during 'peak activity times' in the morning and late afternoon (Malhotra & Thorpe, 1999; Muelleman *et al.*, submitted). For each observation, we recorded habitat, initial posture, time spent moving, distance moved, presence or absence of tongue-flicking, and foraging behaviours. For habitat, we noted the level of disturbance, insolation, and substrate. Disturbance levels were ranked 1–5, with 1 indicating the least disturbed situations (no signs of human activity, generally occurred >10 m from

even the smaller trails), 2-4 representing various intermediate stages of human disturbance considering factors such as trail width and extent of human traffic, and 5 being the most disturbed, which in this study was a paved sidewalk entrance traversed by everyone entering or leaving the park (Fig. 2). Insolation was classified as shade, sunshade mosaic, or direct sun. Substrates included leaf litter, rock, soil, ruins (generally consisting of old rock walls and buildings), and trees or fallen trees. Movements were classified as stationary or moving, and then narrowed into sub-categories, sprawled ('stretched along substrate, with no part of the body touching another'; Heinz et al., 2004) or loosely coiled for stationary snakes (no snakes were tightly coiled) and traveling slowly (no tongue-flicking, slow movement, possibly scanning intermittently), traveling (no tongue-flicking, steady rapid movement), and actively foraging (rooting in leaf litter or moving while tongueflicking). Snakes assuming a foraging posture at the base of a tree were categorized as "sprawled" because the 'foraging' category was originally designated for active foraging behaviours, and because of the difficulty in determining whether a snake was resting or exhibiting a sit-and-wait ambush foraging strategy.



RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

We recorded a total of 267 min of focal animal observations on 19 snakes from 0719–1115 h and 1613–1732 h. Although we have relatively few observations, this study was conducted in conjunction with a survey on snake activity and habitat associations (Muelleman *et al.*, submitted), enabling observers to select focal subjects that were farther from the trail and less likely to be



Figure 2. Trails showing 'disturbance'; disturbance level 3 (moderate impact; left), and disturbance level 5 (most disturbed of areas sampled during this study). Photographs by Lauren A. White.

disturbed. If a snake responded noticeably to an observer's approach or at any time during the observation, focal time was stopped and we moved to the next snake. This method ensured that behaviour of animals considered in the study accurately represented 'typical' behaviour.

Individual snakes often spent extended periods or even entire focal periods engaged in a single activity or posture. Collectively, snakes spent the greatest percentage of time foraging (32.3%), traveling (30.6%), and sprawled (28.2%) (Table 1, Fig. 3). Very little time was spent moving slowly, and this category was exhibited only after extended stationary periods. Only one snake was "coiled," and it was loosely coiled. Because focal observations were conducted at peak activity times, large percentages of time devoted to traveling and foraging were not unexpected. Little sunlight penetrated the relatively contiguous canopy in the park and 17 of 19 snakes observed were in full shade. Most of the ground was covered with leaf litter and 13 snakes were sighted initially

either wholly or partially on leaf litter. Every one of these snakes was in contact with leaf litter at some point during the observation.

Heinz *et al.* (2004) examined behaviour and time allotment of *A. rufiventris* on St. Eustatius, and found snakes traveling 21 %, foraging 28 %, and sprawled 35 % of the time (in various degrees of insolation). Barun *et al.* (2007), during a study of *A. portoricensis anegadae* on Guana Island

(British Virgin Islands), noted that 40.4 % of snakes were moving when first seen, 47.8 % were sprawled and 11.7 % were coiled. Those data are generally comparable to ours, although snakes on St. Eustatius and Guana moved less and were stationary (sprawled, 'scanning', and coiled) more frequently than snakes on Dominica. However, those differences may be attributable largely to the fact that observations made during those other

Number	Habitat			Habitat Moving				
(time)	Substrate	Disturbance	Insolation	Travel Slowly	Travel	Foraging	Sprawled	Coiled
1 (7)	2	4	3	-	-	-	7	-
2 (10)	1	3	3	-	-	10	-	-
3 (15)	1	3	2	-	-	15	-	-
4 (16)	1,4	3	3	-	-	-	16	-
5 (15)	3	4	3	-	-	14	-	-
6 (15)	3	4	3	3.5	-	6.5	5	-
7 (10)	3	4	3	-	-	-	6	-
8 (5)	3	4	3	1	-	-	3	-
9 (15)	1,3	3	2	1	-	-	11	-
10 (16)	1	3	3	-	-	-	16	-
11 (15)	1	3	3	-	-	-	15	-
12 (22)	2	3	3	-	-	-	22	-
13 (17)	1	3	3	2	-	-	15	-
14 (14)	1,2	3	3	-	-	8	1	-
15 (18)	1	3	3	-	-	12	5	1
16 (16)	1	3	3	-	-	-	-	-
17 (15)	1	3	3	-	-	-	15	-
18 (10)	1	3	3	-	7	-	3	-
19 (16)	1	3	3	-	12	-	4	-

 Table 1. Data collected on 19 Alsophis sibonius during focal animal observations at Cabrits National Park in Dominica.

studies were not restricted to peak activity periods.

We observed several unusual behaviours during focal observations. We saw snakes rooting and digging in loose soil and probing small holes in a fashion similar to that described by Heinz *et al.* (2005) for *A. rufiventris.* During one observation, an adult *A. sibonius* was probing in leaf litter and a small hole for approximately 10 min, after which the snake was seen swallowing an unidentified object. Subsequently, three other snakes were observed swallowing small eggs, most likely deposited in the litter by the lizard *Anolis oculatus.* On 11 June at 1634 h, we saw a snake with approximately 8–10 cm of its head and anterior

body elevated and adpressed against a tree trunk. For 15 min, the snake was completely motionless with no tongue-flicks. At 1827 h, the snake was seen again in the same pose, presumably not having moved during the interim. An anole on the tree at a height of approximately 80 cm was doing push-ups movements in the snake's general direction. The lizard was clearly alarmed, but the snake did not respond in any way. At 1835 h, the snake abandoned this posture and circled the tree, where it tongue-flicked the trunk and base of the tree, then left and was lost from view. Subsequently, four other snakes were observed assuming or in this position, above two of which we observed anoles. One snake made an unsuccessful strike at an adult anole from this position on the side of a large rock on which the anole was eating an insect. Powell & Henderson (2008) described and illustrated a similar posture assumed by a snake at the base of a tree after dark on which anoles regularly extended their activity to forage for insects attracted to the light. The 'sprawled' posture abundantly documented in our data, despite our study being conducted primarily at peak activity times, suggests that these snakes employ both active and ambush foraging strategies for arboreal anoles and their eggs. Ambush behaviour also is common in *A. antiguae* (Daltry *et al.*, 2001).

During another encounter, a focal was initiated but quickly discontinued because the snake became aware of and increasingly alarmed by the observer, who then slowly approached the snake, almost touching it near the head with the end of a pencil.



Figure 3. Percent time allotted to various activities and postures by 18 *Alsophis sibonius* during focal animal observations at Cabrits National Park on Dominica.

At that point, the snake fled approximately 1 m, assumed a sprawled position facing away from the observer, and proceeded to move the tip of its tail (ca. 5–6 cm) in a slow, apparently intentional wriggling motion with its head turned as if monitoring the threat. Similar behaviours have been observed in other snakes, for which it has been associated with ambush foraging and caudal luring (Heatwole & Davison, 1976). Because we observed it in only one animal, we cannot attribute any motive to the behaviour, although it appeared to function as a means of enticing a predator to direct its attack to the tail instead of the head, rather than serving a foraging or luring role (Green, 1988).

Very similar behaviour was observed in *A. rufiventris* (Heinz *et al.*, 2004), although whether that snake was responding to an observer (i.e. a threat) is unclear.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Seth Rudman and Ruthie Carter for help in the field. Arlington James, Forest Officer, Forestry, Wildlife, and Parks Division, Ministry of Agriculture & the Environment and Commonwealth of Dominica was instrumental in issuing permits to conduct research in Dominica and facilitated our efforts in myriad ways. Fieldwork was funded by a grant from the National Science Foundation (USA) to Robert Powell (DBI-0242589).

REFERENCES

- Barun, A., Perry, G., Henderson, R. W. & Powell, R. (2007). Alsophis portoricensis anegadae (Squamata: Colubridae): Morphometric characteristics, activity patterns, and habitat use. Copeia 2007, 93–100.
- Daltry, J. C., Bloxam, Q., Cooper, G., Day, M. L.,

Hartley, J., Henry, M., Lindsay, K. & Smith, B. E. (2001). Five years of conserving the 'world's rarest snake', the Antiguan Racer *Alsophis antiguae*. *Oryx* **35**, 119–127.

- Greene, H. W. (1988). Antipredator mechanisms in reptiles. In: *Biology of the Reptilia. Volume 16. Ecology B*, pp. 1–152. C. Gans & R. B. Huey (Eds). New York: Alan R. Liss.
- Heatwole, H. & Davison, E. (1976). A review of caudal luring in snakes with notes on its occurrence in the Saharan Sand Viper, *Cerastes vipera*. *Herpetologica* **32**, 332–336.
- Hedges, S. B., Cruaud, C. & Vidal, N. (Submitted). Molecular phylogeny, classification, and biogeography of West Indian racers of the tribe *Alsophiini* (Squamata, Dipsadidae, Xenodontinae).
- Heinz, H. M., Maley, A. J., Savit, A. Z., Henderson, R. W. & Powell, R. (2004). Behavior and time allotment in the West Indian snake *Alsophis rufiventris* (Colubridae). *Herpetological Bulletin* 89, 22–25.
- Heinz, H. M., Savit, A. Z., Maley, A. J., Henderson, R. W. & Powell, R. (2005). *Alsophis rufiventris*. Foraging and diet. *Herpetological Review* 36, 186–187.
- Henderson, R. W. & Powell, R. (2009). Natural History of West Indian Amphibians and Reptiles. Gainesville: University Press of Florida.

- Henderson, R. W. & Sajdak, R. A. (1996). Diets of West Indian racers (Colubridae: *Alsophis*): Composition and biogeographic implications. In *Contributions to West Indian Herpetology: A Tribute to Albert Schwartz*, pp. 327–338. R. Powell & W. R. Henderson (Eds.). Ithaca, New York: Society for the Study of Amphibians and Reptiles, Contributions to Herpetology, Volume 12.
- Malhotra, A. & Thorpe, R.S. (1999). *Reptiles & Amphibians of the Eastern Caribbean*. London: Macmillan Education Ltd.
- Muelleman, P. J., White, L. A., Henderson, R. W. & Powell, R. (Submitted). Activity patterns of *Alsophis sibonius* and *Liophis juliae* in Cabrits National Park, Dominica, West Indies.
- Powell, R. & Henderson, R. W. (2008). Exploitation of the night-light niche by a Dominican Racer. *Iguana* **15**, in press.
- Schwartz, A. & Henderson, R. W. (1991). Natural History of West Indian Amphibians and Reptiles: Descriptions, Distributions, and Natural History. Gainesville: University of Florida Press.

Communal egg-laying and nest-sites of the Goo-eater, *Sibynomorphus mikanii* (Colubridae, Dipsadinae) in southeastern Brazil

HENRIQUE B. P. BRAZ^{1, 3, 4}, FRANCISCO L. FRANCO¹ and SELMA M. ALMEIDA-SANTOS¹

¹ Laboratório de Ecologia e Evolução, Instituto Butantan, 05503-900, São Paulo SP, Brasil

² Laboratório de Herpetologia, Instituto Butantan, 05503-900, São Paulo SP, Brasil

³ Programa de Pós-graduação Interunidades em Biotecnologia, Universidade de São Paulo, São Paulo SP, Brasil

⁴ Corresponding author: hbraz@butantan.gov.br

FOR oviparous reptiles without parental behavior, female nest-site selection plays a significant role in the evolution of life histories (Resetarits, 1996; Shine, 2004). Nevertheless, nest-sites and oviposition modes of neotropical snakes are relatively unknown, mostly because mothers are so successful at hiding their eggs that nests are rarely found in nature. Additionally, much emphasis has been placed on life history components such as body size, number and size of offspring, and age at maturity (Stearns, 1992; Resetarits, 1996).

Snakes oviposit under rocks, logs, or any other surface cover, in preformed subterranean chambers (Packard & Packard, 1988) and within nests of other animals such as alligators (Hall & Meier, 1993), ants and termites (Riley *et al.*, 1985). With regard to oviposition modes, snakes oviposit both in solitary and communal nests (Vaz-Ferreira *et al.*, 1970; Graves & Duvall, 1995; Blouin-Demers *et al.*, 2004).

Communal oviposition is a widespread phenomenon and occurs when several females, conspecifics or not, share the same nest cavity to deposit their eggs (Graves & Duvall, 1995). Among neotropical species, reports of nest-sites and communal nests are scarce and are mostly related to colder climates (e.g. Vaz-Ferreira *et al.*, 1970; Cadle & Chuna, 1995). Recently, Albuquerque & Ferrarezzi (2004) reported one communal nest for the neotropical colubrid snake *Sibynomorphus mikanii* in an anthropized area in southeastern Brazil. Herein we describe another three nest-sites, nesting areas and oviposition modes of the goo-eater snake *S. mikanii* in southeastern Brazil.

S. mikanii is a dipsadine colubrid snake that feeds on slugs (Laporta-Ferreira *et al.*, 1986; Oliveira, 2001) and is distributed in Central, Atlantic and Meridional Brazilian uplands in cerrado and tropical forest areas (Franco, 1994). Females oviposit from September (early spring) to February (mid-summer) and clutch size varies from three to 10 eggs, averaging 5.9 eggs (Oliveira, 2001).

On 5th February 2007, 41 eggs and 11 empty shells (Fig. 1C) were found together inside a hole, 20 cm below ground surface, at the edge of a degraded wood inside Instituto Butantan (IBSP), São Paulo city, Brazil. The nest (hereafter nest #1) was situated 17 m away from the wood and 9 m away from the backyard of a house on a slightly steep slope (Fig. 1A). A small hole (50 mm diameter), at the side of the nest may have provided access for the snakes (Fig. 1B). Temperature at the same depth around the nest averaged 27.3° C (range = 27 - 28°C). Four empty shells contained fluids indicating recent hatchings whereas seven were completely desiccated. Two dead hatchlings were found near the nest ($\pm 1 \text{ m}$ away). Nest #2 and #3 were discovered by a farmer in two different spots, in a 5000 m² house backyard, in Vargem city, Brazil. Nest #2 was discovered under dry grass accumulated after ground weeding and contained nine eggs. Nest #3 was found 30 m away from nest #2 under a large rock (30 x 60 x 15 cm) and had a total of 12 eggs. Eggs were donated to IBSP on 1st March 2007,

some days after collection and by this time one egg had hatched. In the laboratory, we counted four fresh empty shells and 17 eggs (three dehydrated and one parasitized by fungi). In both backyards, dogs circulated freely over the nesting areas. After the donation of the eggs, the farmer found a dead hatchling of *S. mikanii* near nest #3. Eggs were measured, weighed (Table 1), and incubated in laboratory at 27 °C (temperature of nest #1). Fungal infection precluded eight eggs (19.5 %) from nest #1 and five eggs (45.5 %) from nest #2 and #3 from hatching. Eggs were dissected but we were unable to find or to identify the

embryos. One hatchling from nest #2 died half emerged from the eggshell. Thus, 33 successful hatchings from nest #1 occurred between 6th February and 16th April 2007, whereas from nest # 2 and #3 five occurred between 1st March and 31st May 2007. Hatchlings were measured, weighed, and sexed by eversion of hemipenis (Table 1). Based on mean clutch size of the species (5.9 eggs [Oliveira, 2001]), we inferred that nearly seven to nine different oviposition events may have occurred in nest #1 (six to 17), one to two in nest #2 (one to three), and two in nest #3 (two to four) in the current reproductive season. These



Figure 1. (A) Diagrammatic vertical section of the terrain surrounding nest #1; (B) view of the destroyed nest and its likely entrance; (C) Eggs of *Sibynomorphus mikanii* found within nest #1.

assumptions are strengthened if we take into consideration hatching dates (seven in nest #1 and three in nest #2 and #3). Although communal oviposition in nest #1 and #3 is evident, there is some doubt over nest #2 as it is quite possible that one single female laid the nine eggs.

Nest-sites and nesting areas are described for few species of neotropical snakes (e.g. Vaz-Ferreira *et al.*, 1970; Cadle & Chuna, 1995; Albuquerque & Ferrarezzi, 2004). Despite the fact that some snakes dig a hole in the soil to oviposit (e.g. Burger & Zappalorti, 1986), most species apparently are unable to construct a nest and rely on pre-existing sites for oviposition (Packard & Packard, 1988). This seems to be the case for *S. mikanii* (Albuquerque & Ferrarezzi, 2004; this study). Although eggs of nest #1 were found inside a hole, it is unlikely that any female of *S. mikanii* actually excavated it because the soil was very compacted. Moreover, in the laboratory, gravid *S. mikanii* tend to hide the eggs under the water bowl or under rocks instead of burying them (H.B.P. Braz & S.M. Almeida-Santos, unpublished data). In addition, other dipsadine snakes also oviposit in pre-existing sites (Brandão & Vanzolini, 1985; Riley *et al.*, 1985; Cadle & Chuna, 1995; Greene, 1997).

Thermal conditions are often suggested as a factor driving maternal choice of nest-site (Blouin-Demers et al., 2004; Shine 2004) because incubation temperature affects offspring phenotypes (Deeming, 2004) and therefore may influence organismal fitness (Elphick & Shine, 1998; Brown & Shine, 2004). Females frequently oviposit in forest clearings (Fowler, 1966; Brodie et al., 1969; Covacevich & Limpus, 1972; Burger & Zappalorti, 1986; Albuquerque & Ferrarezzi, 2004) and nests located in these areas generally are hotter than nests located in shaded areas because shading reduces insolation and heating of the soil (Magnusson & Lima, 1984; Shine et al., 2002). As well as nest #1, several nests have also been found in slopes (e.g. Brodie et al., 1969; Covacevich & Limpus, 1972; Burger, 1976; Albuquerque & Ferrarezzi, 2004; James & Henderson 2004) and factors like direction and slope influence the absorption of solar radiation (Burger, 1976). Thus, mothers may have selected these sites in seeking to maximize sunlight exposure to accelerate embryonic development or optimize phenotypic traits of the resulting hatchlings. Therefore thermal conditions could also be a major factor influencing communal nesting behavior. Temperatures in communal nests are usually higher than in solitary ones (e.g. Blouin-Demers et al., 2004) due to metabolic heat

Measurements	Nest #1	Nest #2 and #3
Eggs	n = 41	<i>n</i> = 13
Length (mm)	27.9 ± 2.7	25.7 ± 3.0
Width (mm)	14.5 ± 2.0	12.6 ± 0.9
Mass (g)	3.5 ± 0.9	2.5 ± 0.4
Hatchlings	<i>n</i> = 33	<i>n</i> = 5
SVL (mm)	171.8 ± 13.5	170.0 ± 5.8
TL (mm)	34.0 ± 4.7	29.4 ± 2.6
Mass (g)	2.3 ± 0.4	2.0 ± 0.5
Sex (male/female)	19/14	2/3

 Table 1. Measurements of eggs and hatchlings of three natural nests of the goo-eater snake Sibynomorphus mikanii. SVL = Snout-vent length; TL = Tail length.

generated by embryos (Burger, 1976; Ewert & Nelson, 2003). Therefore, communal nesting might be adaptive because higher temperatures in nests enhance hatchling phenotypes (Blouin-Demers et al., 2004). However, studies on the thermal and hydric requirements of S. mikanii embryos would be needed to test these hypotheses. In parallel, egg aggregations also offer other potential advantages such as protection (Graves & Duvall, 1995; Jackson, 1998) and predator satiation (Eckrich & Owens, 1995; Graves & Duvall, 1995). If communal oviposition offers such advantages to hatchlings (e.g. phenotype improvement, predator satiation), why, then, would one female oviposit in a solitary nest as is likely to have occurred in nest #2? Blouin-Demers et al. (2004) suggested that the disadvantages of solitary nests may be compensated by lower risk of egg parasitism by

fungi. Additionally, in communal nests availability of water is less than in solitary nests (Marco *et al.*, 2004; Radder & Shine, 2007). This modifies hydric exchange between the eggs and the environment and the consequences to hatchling phenotypes may be more detrimental to aggregated eggs (Marco *et al.*, 2004). Thus it is reasonable to suggest that there are trade-offs between these two modes of egg-laying that result in similar fitness payoffs (Blouin-Demers *et al.*, 2004).

In summary, there are two (but nonexclusive) reasons for the occurrence of communal nesting behavior: scarcity of suitable nesting sites (e.g. optimum moisture and temperature; protection against predators) or adaptive behavior; that increases reproductive success due to aggregation in large clusters. Our findings plus literature data indicate a preference of gravid *S. mikanii* to nest

communally even when similar potential nest-sites were present in nesting areas. We suggest that such widespread behavior might result from adaptation. However, the adaptive significance of communal oviposition remains unknown.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank D. A. C. Martins, and the staff of Vigilância Sanitária de Vargem for the material donation and information. J. C. Ferreira and A. C. Barbosa for laboratory assistance. B. M. Graves and D. W. Owens kindly provided references. This study was supported by FAPESP (07/51977-3).

REFERENCES

- Albuquerque, C. E. & Ferrarezzi, H. (2004). A case of communal nesting in the Neotropical snake *Sibynomorphus mikanii* (Serpentes, Colubridae). *Phyllomedusa* **3**, 73-77.
- Blouin-Demers, G., Weatherhead, P. J. & Row, J. R. (2004). Phenotypic consequences of nest-site selection in Black Rat snakes (*Elaphe obsoleta*). *Can. J. Zool.* 82, 449-456.
- Brandão, C.R.F. & Vanzolini, P.E. (1985). Notes on incubatory inquilinism between Squamata (Reptilia) and the Neotropical fungus-growing ant genus *Acromyrmex* (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). *Papeis Avulsos Zool.* **36**, 31-36.
- Brodie, E. D., Jr., Nussbaum, R. A. & Storm, R. M. (1969). An egg-laying aggregation of five species of Oregon Reptiles. *Herpetologica* 25, 223-227.
- Brown, G. P. & Shine, R. (2004). Maternal nestsite choice and offspring fitness in a tropical snake (*Tropidonophis mairii*, Colubridae). *Ecology* 85, 1627-1634.
- Burger, J. (1976). Temperature relationships in nests of the northern diamondback terrapin, *Malaclemys terrapin terrapin. Herpetologica* **32**, 412-418.
- Burger, J. & Zappalorti, R. T. (1986). Nest site selection by pine snakes, *Pituophis melanoleucus*, in the New Jersey Pine Barrens. *Copeia* **1986**, 116-121.
- Cadle, J. E. & Chuna, P. M. (1995). A new lizard of the genus *Macropholidus* (Teiidae) from a relictual humid forest of northwestern Peru, and notes on *Macropholidus ruthveni* Noble. *Breviora* **501**, 1-39.

- Covacevich, J. & Limpus, C. (1972). Observations on community egg-laying by the yellow-faced whip snake, *Demansia psammophis* (Schlegel) 1837 (Squamata: Elapidae). *Herpetologica* **28**, 208-210.
- Deeming, D. C. (2004). Post-hatching phenotypic effects of incubation in reptiles. In: *Reptilian Incubation: Environment, Evolution, and Behaviour*: pp. 229-251, D. C. Deeming (Ed.). Nottingham: Nottingham University Press.
- Eckrich, C. E. & Owens, D. W. (1995). Solitary versus arribada nesting in the olive ridley sea turtles (*Lepidochelys olivacea*): a test of the predator-satiation hypothesis. *Herpetologica* **51**, 349-359.
- Elphick, M. J. & Shine, R. (1998). Longterm effects of incubation temperature on the morphology and locomotor performance of hatchling lizards (*Bassiana duperreyi*, Scincidae). *Biol. J. Linn. Soc.* **63**, 429-447.
- Ewert, M. A. & Nelson, C. E. (2003). Metabolic heating of embryos and sex determination in the American alligator, *Alligator mississippiensis*. *J. Therm. Biol.* 28, 159-165.
- Fowler, J. A. (1966). A communal nesting site for the smooth green snake in Michigan. *Herpetologica* **22**, 231.
- Franco, F. L. (1994). O gênero Sibynomorphus Fitzinger, 1843 no Brasil (Colubridae: Xenodontinae, Dipsadiniae). Unpublished M. Sc. Dissertation. Pontifícia Universidade Católica do Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil.
- Graves, B. M. & Duvall, D. (1995). Aggregation of squamate reptiles associated with gestation, oviposition, and parturition. *Herpetol. Monogr.* 9, 102-129.
- Greene, H. W. (1997). *Snakes: the Evolution of Mystery in Nature*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Hall, P. M. & Meier, A. J. (1993). Reproduction and behavior of western mud snakes (*Farancia abacura reinwarditii*) in american alligator nests. *Copeia* **1993**, 219-222.
- Jackson, D. (1989). Turtles use of alligator nests.In: *Crocodiles and Alligators*. pp. 145. C. A. Ross (Ed.). London: Merchurst Press.
- James, A. & Henderson, R. W. (2004). Communal nesting site in the snake *Liophis juliae* in Dominica, West Indies. *Carib. J. Sci.* **40**, 263-265.

- Laporta-Ferreira, I. L., Salomão, M. G. & Sawaya, P. (1986). Biologia de Sibynomorphus (Colubridae-Dipsadinae) – Reprodução e hábitos alimentares. *Rev. Bras. Biol.* 46, 793-799.
- Magnusson, W. E. & Lima, A. P. (1984). Perennial communal nesting by *Kentropyx calcaratus*. J. *Herpetol.* 18, 73-75.
- Marco, A., Díaz-Paniagua, C. & Hidalgo-Vila, J. (2004). Influence of egg aggregation and soil moisture on incubation of flexible-shelled lacertid lizard eggs. *Can. J. Zool.* 82, 60-65.
- Oliveira, J. L. (2001). Ecologia de três espécies de dormideira, *Sibynomorphus* (Serpentes: Colubridae). Unpublished M.Sc. Dissertation. Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil.
- Packard, G. C. & Packard, M. J. (1988). The physiological ecology of reptilian eggs and embryos. In: *Biology of the Reptilia, Vol. 16. Ecology B, Defense and Life History*, pp. 523-606. C. Gans & R. B. Huey (Eds.). New York: C. Alan R. Liss Inc.
- Radder, R. S. & Shine, R. (2007). Why do female lizards lay their eggs in communal nests? *J. Anim. Ecol.* **76**, 881-887.

- Resetarits, W. J., Jr. (1996). Oviposition site choice and life history evolution. *Amer. Zool.* 36, 205-215.
- Riley, J., Stimson, A. F. & Winch, J. M. (1985). A review of Squamata ovipositing in ant and termite nests. *Herp. Rev.* **16**, 38-43.
- Shine, R. (2004). Adaptive consequences of developmental plasticity. In: *Reptilian Incubation: Environment, Evolution, and Behaviour*, pp. 187-210. D. C. Deeming (Ed.). Nottingham: Nottingham University Press.
- Shine, R., Barrott, E. G. & Elphick, M. J. (2002). Some like it hot: effects of forest clearing on nest temperatures of montane reptiles. *Ecology* 83, 2808-2815.
- Stearns, S. C. (1992). *The Evolution of Life Histories*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. 249 pp.
- Vaz-Ferreira, R., Zolessi, L. C. & Achával, F. (1970): Oviposicion y desarrollo de Ofídios y Lacertilios em hormigueros de *Acromyrmex*. *Physis* 29, 431-459.

NATURAL HISTORY NOTES

BUFO BUFO (Common toad): **FUNGAL** OUTBREAK. In species with complex life cycles, like amphibians, early developmental stages like eggs or larvae are the most vulnerable. Predators or pathogens may cause embryo mortalities close to 100% (Petranka & Kennedy, 1999). Episodes of high mortality due to unknown factors have been reported (Carrier & Beebe, 2003) but pathogens are likely causal within these occurrences (Blaustein & Kiesecker, 2002). Fungal infections such as chytridiomycosis (Berger et al., 1998; Welldon et al., 2004) or Saprolegnia infections (Blaustein et al., 1994) are important factors causing embryonic mortality in amphibians. Mass mortalities associated with pathogens and chytridiomycosis have been reported in the Iberian Peninsula (Bosch et al., 2001, Bosch & Martinez-Solano, 2006), but episodes of Saprolegnia infections have been described only recently (Fernandez-Beneitez et al., 2008).

Bufo bufo reproduction has been monitored over the past decade in the Gándaras de Budiño e Ribeiras do Louro wetland. This wetland is included in the European network of protected places in Natura 2000. It is one of the last remnants of large wetland and gallery forest areas associated with the river Louro basin, which are threatened by industrial development (Ayres & Cordero, 2007). This area consists of a complex of wetlands, gallery forests (*Salix* sp., *Betula* sp., *Alnus* sp.), swamps, bogs, flooded areas, and artificial ponds created by extraction for clay. Reproduction of amphibians has been monitored in more detail during the last five years in these naturalized clay pits.

I monitored a number of clay pits 2-3 times per week, between January and March 2008, walking along the shore in order to detect egg-laying sites, and also to assess the impact of predation by breeding pairs of European otter (*Lutra lutra*). In the third week of January 2008, reproduction of *B. bufo* was detected. I found up to 100 strings in the clay pits during peak breeding. Due to the severe draught that Spain was suffering (the driest autumn-winter in the last 60 years [Xunta de Galicia, unpublished report]) there were few suitable places for egg-laying. Females were forced to spawn in shallow water, and in a variety of unusual places such as among floating pine branches that drapped over the surface of water.

One week later I detected the first viability problems. Some strings began to desiccate due to a lack of rain and because they were attached to grass in shallow water that was less than 10 cm deep. Other clutches began to develop a fungal coat, with eggs failing to hatch correctly. At least 20% of the clutches failed to hatch, due to desiccation, fungal attack, or both causes. This may be an underestimation because some affected strings could pass unnoticed in places with difficult access; the clay pits have almost vertical banks in some places.

Strings affected by fungal attack presented a "black & white" coloration of eggs in the first stages, changing to a "cotton-like" appearance in the last stages of the pathogen's development. This cotton-like appearance is typical of Oomycete, *Saprolegnia* infection (Fernandez-Beneitez *et al.*, 2008). I detected clutches affected by this pathogen not only in not suitable egg-laying places, but also among suitable underwater vegetation, typical egg-laying areas for *B. bufo.*

This is the first time that I have detected such a large failure in the reproductive success of *B. bufo* in this area. In previous years less than 1% of the strings failed to develop tadpoles (Ayres, unpubl. data). This fact, combined with the impact of predation by Otter on breeding pairs of adults (Ayres & Garcia, 2007), could have a negative impact on the breeding population of *B. bufo* in this wetland.

Emergent pathogens such as *Saprolegnia* are known to be the origin of embryonic die-offs in many amphibians (Blaustein *et al.*, 1994; Kiesecker *et al.*, 2001), including mass die offs of the eggs of European species like Natterjack toad (*Bufo calamita*) and European common frog (*Rana temporaria*) (Banks & Beebee, 1988; Beattie *et al.*, 1991).

However, there are few reports about amphibian die-offs in the Iberian Peninsula from Oomycete attack. Recently an episode affecting *B. calamita* in Sierra de Gredos mountains, Central Spain was described (Fernandez-Beneitez *et al.*, 2008). Observations herein now present a new episode of egg mortality, involving a new species, *B. bufo*, in the NW of Spain at low altitude (30 m a.s.l.).

It is possible that climate-induced reductions in

water depth at oviposition sites may have increased mortality of embryos by increasing their exposure to UV-B radiation, and consequently, their vulnerability to infection (Kiesecker *et al.*, 2001). In Europe, the hatching success of *B. bufo* is generally lower for UV-B exposed eggs than for those shielded from UV-B (Lizana & Pedraza, 1998).

In the area studied it was the driest autumn in the last sixty years, with low water level, and vritually no typical vegetation to lay eggs among such as *Typha* sp. or *Potamogeton* sp. As a result females were forced to lay in 'unsuitable' places like pine branches over the surface of the ponds, that quickly desiccate due to the lack of rain. These unsuitable places likely increased the vulnerability fo the eggs to fungal attack. Strings attached in deep water also suffered from fungal attack. Unfortunately no sample of the pathogen was identified to species level.

One species of *Saprolegnia* shown to be involved in natural infections is *Saprolegnia ferax* (Blaustein *et al.*, 1994; Kiesecker *et al.*, 2001). Fernandez-Beneitez *et al.* (2008) states, other species such as *Saprolegnia diclina* could also be responsible for die-offs in Spain. *Saprolegnia diclina-parasitica* complex was also determined as lethal to *R.temporaria* and *B.bufo* eggs under laboratory conditions (Robinson *et al.*, 2003).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank O. Lorenzo for her comments on a previous draft of the manuscript. Also J. Dieguez-Uribeondo provided useful information about *Saprolegnia* in the Iberian Peninsula.

REFERENCES

- Ayres, C. (2008). Post-mortem amplexus in marauded *Bufo bufo* (Linnaeus, 1758). *Podarcis* 9, 11-12.
- Ayres, C. & Cordero A. (2007). Site tenacity in European pond turtle (*Emys orbicularis*) hatchlings in N.W. Spain. *Amphibia-Reptilia*, 28, 144-147.
- Ayres, C. & Garcia, P. (2007). Depredación de nutria *Lutra lutra* (Linnaeus, 1758) sobre sapo común *Bufo bufo* (Linnaeus, 1758) en el lic Gándaras de Budiño (Galicia). *Galemys* 19 (1), 45-50.

Banks, B. & Beebee, T. J. C. (1988). Reproductive

32 Herpetological Bulletin [2008] - Number 106

success of natterjack toads *Bufo calamita* in two contrasting habitats. *J. Anim. Ecol.* **57**, 475-492.

- Beattie, R. C., Aston, R. J. & Milner, A. G. P. (1991). A field study of fertilization and embryonic development in the common frog (*Rana temporaria*) with particular reference to acidity and temperature. *J. Appl. Ecol.* **28** (1), 346-357.
- Berger, L., Speare, R., Daszak, P., Green, D. E., Cunningham, A. A., & Goggin, C. L. (1998). Chytridiomycosis causes amphibian mortality associated with population declines in the rain forests of Australia and Central America. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **95**, 9031-9036.
- Blaustein, A. R. & Kiesecker, J. M. (2002). Complexity in conservation: lessons from the global decline of amphibian populations. *Ecology Letters* **5**, 597-608.
- Blaustein, A. R., Hokit, D. G., O'Hara, R. K. & Holt, R. A. (1994). Pathogenic fungus contributes to amphibian losses in the Pacific Northwest. *Biol. Conserv.* **67**, 251-254.
- Bosch, J. & Martinez-Solano, I. (2006). Chytrid fungus infection related to unusual mortalities of *Salamandra salamandra* and *Bufo bufo* in the Peñalara Natural Park (Central Spain). *Oryx* **40**, 84-89.
- Bosch, J., Martinez-Solano, I. & Garcia-Paris, M. (2001). Evidence of a chytrid fungus infection involved in the decline of the common midwife toad (*Alytes obstetricans*) in protected areas of Central Spain. *Biol. Conserv.* 97, 331-337.
- Carrier, J. A. & Beebee, T. J. C. (2003). Recent, substantial, and unexplained declines of the common toad *Bufo bufo* in lowland England. *Biol. Conserv.* 111, 395-399.
- Fernandez-Beneitez, M. J., Ortiz-Santaliestra, M. E., Lizana, M. & Dieguez-Uribeondo, J. (2008). Saprolegnia diclina:another species responsible for the emergent disease 'Saprolegnia' in amphibians. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 279, 23-29.
- Garner, T. W. J. Walker, S. Bosch, J., Hyatt, A. D. Cunningham, A. A. & Fisher, M. C. (2005). Widespread European distribution of a global amphibian pathogen. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* **11**, 1639-1641.
- Kiesecker, J. M., Blaustein, A. R. & Belden, L. K. (2001). Complex causes of amphibian population declines. *Nature*, **410**, 681-684.

- Lizana, M. & Pedraza, E. M. (1998). Different mortality of toad embryos (*Bufo bufo* and *Bufo calamita*) caused by UV-B radiation in high mountain areas of the Spanish Central System. *Conserv. Biol.* 12, 703-707.
- Petranka, J. W. & Kennedy, J. A. (1999). Pond tadpoles with generalized morphology: is it time to reconsider their functional roles in aquatic communities? *Oecologia* **120**, 621-631.
- Robinson, J., Griffiths, R. A. & Jeffries, P. (2003). Susceptibility of frog (*Rana temporaria*) and toad (*Bufo bufo*) eggs to invasion by *Saprolegnia*. *Amphibia-Reptilia* **24**, 261-268.
- Weldon, C., du Preez, L. H., Hyatt, A. D., Muller, R. & Speare, R. (2004). Origin of the amphibian chytrid fungus. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 12, 2100-2105.

Submitted by: CESAR AYRES. R.O.A.G.A., Centro de Investigación e Información Ambiental -Estrada PO-546 Pontevedra-Marín, km. 4 Apdo. 127- C.P. 36080. Lourizán - Pontevedra, Spain. cesar@herpetologica.org

DIPSAS INDICA (Snail-eating snake): REPRODUCTION. The genus *Dipsas* is a well diversified taxa composed of nocturnal, semiarboreal and malacophagous species (Greene, 1997) widely distributed in Central and South America (Peters & Orejas-Miranda, 1970). In Brazil eight species occur (SBH, 2008) and published reproductive data are restricted to half of them (Porto & Fernandes, 1996; Martins & Oliveira, 1999; Hartmann *et al.*, 2002; Alves *et al.*, 2005).

Herein, we present unpublished data about oviposition, hatching, clutch size, relative clutch mass (RCM) and size of hatchlings of *Dipsas indica*. This species is distributed in South America and five subspecies are recognized (Peters & Orejas-Miranda, 1970; Hoge & Romano, 1975).

On 10th November 2006, a gravid female *D. indica* with a snout-vent length (SVL) of 600 mm, tail length (TL) of 170 mm, and mass of 60.8 g was collected in Mogi Mirim ($22^{\circ}25$ 'S, $46^{\circ}57$ 'W, 632 m), São Paulo State. On 17th November 2006 it was housed in 40 x 80 x 50 cm terraria, with a water dish, moistened soil, leaves and branches. Until oviposition, veronicellid slugs were offered as prey. During this period the snake fed on two slugs with 2.5-3.0 cm. On 27th December 2006 it laid 5 eggs, being 2 weakly adhered and 3 separated. The snake was found under the leaves semi-coiled around the eggs. No behavioral changes of the female were observed during collection of the eggs.



Figure 1. Difference in color pattern of hatchling *Dipsas indica*. Upper: Female. Lower: Male.

Eggs averaged 29.2 ± 1.9 mm in length (range = 27.3-31.7 mm), 12.7 ± 0.4 mm in width (range = 12.2-13.2 mm) and 3.0 ± 0.1 g in mass (range = 2.8-3.1 g). Clutch mass was 14.9 g and after oviposition the female weighed 36.0 g. Relative clutch mass (RCM; total clutch mass/body mass of mother after oviposition + clutch mass; cf. Seigel & Fitch, [1984]) was 0.29. The RCM calculated according to Shine (1980) (total clutch mass/body mass of mother after oviposition) was 0.41. Four out of five eggs were incubated in a plastic container with moistened vermiculite, at room temperature averaging 24 °C (range = 22-26 °C). On 13th April 2007, three eggs hatched after an Number 106 - Herpetological Bulletin [2008] 33

incubation period of 107 days. Hatchlings averaged 180.3 \pm 8.0 mm SVL (range = 172-188 mm), 55.7 \pm 4.0 mm TL (range = 51-58 mm) and 2.6 \pm 0.2 g (range = 2.4-2.8 g) and were similar to other hatchling *Dipsas* sp. (Hartmann *et al.*, 2002; Alves *et al.*, 2005). Male hatchlings (n = 2) were clearer than female (n = 1) (Fig. 1). The egg not hatched was dissected and contained one dead full term embryo. Hatchlings were placed in terraria (30 x 15 x 20 cm), with soil, leaves, branches, a water dish and fed with snails. Initial growth rate during the first 14 weeks was 2.64 mm by week.

D. indica is a semi-arboreal species (Sazima, 1989; Greene, 1997) but despite this, until oviposition, the female was never seen on the branches. Instead, it was frequently found coiled under the leaves. Conversely, hatchlings were frequently found resting on the branches within the terraria even during the day. Pregnancy may have disuaded the adult female snake from arboreal habits. Fecundity (clutch size, RCM) was low and this is also a common trait within other Dipsas sp. (Zug et al., 1979; Martins & Oliveira, 1999; Hartmann et al., 2002; Alves et al., 2005; Cadle, 2005). Low fecundity may have two different (but non-exclusive) reasons: the small body size of the adult female (larger females tend to produce larger clutches; Shine [1994]), or a reflection of the genus' arboreal habits (Pizzatto et al., 2007). Seemingly, species of Dipsas show aseasonal reproduction in lower latitudes (e.g. Zug et al., 1979; Porto & Fernandes, 1996; Alves et al., 2005) and seasonal reproduction in higher latitudes (e.g. Marques, 1998; Hartmann et al., 2002; Marques & Sazima, 2004). Our observation strengthen the suggestion of seasonal (springsummer) reproduction in Dipsas from higher latitudes, however, more data on southern Brazil populations of D. indica would be necessary to provide concrete evidence of this definition of reproductive cycle for the species.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank S. R. Travaglia-Cardoso for the photos, V. J. Germano for technical support. Finances were supported by FAPESP (07/51977-3).

REFERENCES

Alves, F. Q. Argolo, A. J. S. & Jim, J. (2005).

Biologia reprodutiva de *Dipsas neivai* Amaral and *D. catesbyi* Sentzen (Serpentes, Colubridae) no Sudeste da Bahia, Brasil. *Revista Brasileira de Zoologia* **22** (3), 573-579.

- Cadle, J. E. (2005). Systematics of snakes of the Dipsas oreas complex (Colubridae: Dipsadinae) in western Ecuador and Peru, with revalidation of D. elegans (Boulenger) and D. ellipsifera (Boulenger). Bull. Mus. Comp. Zool. 158 (3), 67-136.
- Greene, H. W. (1997). *Snakes: The Evolution of Mystery in Nature*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Hartmann, M. T. Del Grande, M. L. Gondim, M. J.
 C. Mendes, M. C. & Marques, O. A. V. (2002).
 Reproduction and activity of the snail-eating snake, *Dipsas albifrons* (Colubridae), in the Southern Atlantic Forest in Brazil. *Stud. on Neotrop. Fauna and Environ.* 37 (2), 111-114.
- Hoge, A. R. & Romano, S. A. L. (1975). A new subspecies of *Dipsas indica* from Brazil. (Serpentes, Colubridae, Dipsadinae). *Mem. Inst. Butantan* 39, 51-60.
- Marques, O. A. V. (1998). Composição faunística, história natural e ecologia de serpentes da Mata Atlântica, na região da Estação Ecológica Juréia-Itatins, São Paulo, SP. Unpublished Ph.D. Thesis, Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil.
- Marques, O. A. V. & Sazima, I. (2004). História natural dos répteis da Estação Ecológica Juréia-Itatins. In: *Estação Ecológica Juréia-Itatins: Ambiente Físico, Flora e Fauna*. pp. 257-277. O. A. V. Marques & W. Duleba (Eds.). Ribeirão Preto: Holos Editora.
- Martins, M. & Oliveira, M. E. (1999: dated 1998). Natural history of snakes in forests of Manaus region, Central Amazônia, Brazil. *Herp. Nat. Hist.* **6**, 78-150.
- Peters, J. A. & Orejas-Miranda, B. (1970). Catalogue of the Neotropical Squamata. Part I. Snakes. U.S. Nat. Mus. Bull. **297**, 1-347.
- Pizzatto, L. Almeida-Santos, S. M. & Shine, R. (2007). Life-history adaptations to arboreality in snakes. *Ecology* 88 (2), 359-366.
- Porto, M. & Fernandes, R. (1996). Variation and natural history of the snail eating *Dipsas neivai* (Colubridae: Xenodontinae). *J. Herpetol.* **30**, 269-271.
- Sazima, I. (1989). Feeding behavior of the Snail-

eating Snake, *Dipsas indica*. J. Herpetol. 23 (4), 464-468.

- SBH. (2008). Brazilian Reptiles List of Species. Accessible at http://www.sbherpetologia.org.br. Sociedade Brasileira de Herpetologia. (accessed 1st April 2008).
- Seigel, R. A & Fitch, H. S. (1984). Ecological patterns of relative clutch mass in snakes. *Oecologia* **61**, 293-301.
- Shine, R. (1980). Costs of reproduction in reptiles. *Oecologia* **46**, 92-100.
- Shine, R. (1994). Allometric patterns in the ecology of Australian snakes. *Copeia* **1994** (4), 851-867.
- Zug, G. R. Hedges, S. B. & Sunkel, S. (1979). Variation in reproductive parameters of three Neotropical snakes, *Coniophanes fissidens*, *Dipsas catesbyi* and *Imantodes cenchoa*. *Smiths*. *Contr. Zool.* **300**, 1-20.

Submitted by: HENRIQUE B. P. BRAZ^{1, 2, 3} and SELMA M. ALMEIDA-SANTOS²

¹ Laboratório de Herpetologia, Instituto Butantan, Av. Dr. Vital Brazil, 1500, CEP 05503-900, São Paulo, SP, Brazil. hbraz@butantan.gov.br

² Laboratório Especial de Ecologia e Evolução, Instituto Butantan, Av. Dr. Vital Brazil, 1500, CEP 05503-900, São Paulo, SP, Brazil. almeidasantos@ butantan.gov.br

³ Programa de Pós Graduação Interunidades em Biotecnologia, Universidade de São Paulo, SP, Brasil.



MASTIGODRYAS BODDAERTI (Boddaert's Tropical Racer): PREDATION. Frogs do not have nails, teeth and hair per se, and since they are able to rapidly convert ingested food into biomass, they often represent a high quality meal (Wells, 2007). Thus, many different animals are known to attack frogs, such as arthropods like arachnids, centipedes (McCormick & Polis, 1982; Forti *et al.*, 2007). Vertebrates such as snakes one of the more significant predators on adult amphibians (Toledo *et al.*, 2007).

This paper presents a predation behavior record

of the snake, *Mastigodryas boddaerti* on the frog, *Leptodactylus fuscus* in natural conditions, in Cuiabá municipality, state of Mato Grosso, Brazil. This region has annual precipitation varying from 1,250 to 1,500 mm. Two different seasons (rainy/dry) are recognized, with mean air temperature about 24 - 26 °C Carvalho & Nogueira (1998).

Mastigodryas boddaerti occurs in Colombia, Venezuela, Brazil, Bolivia, Ecuador, Trinidad, French Guiana and Peru (Cunha & Nascimento 1993; Uetz, 2008). It is a terrestrial and diurnal species whose diet is composed mainly of lizards, frogs of the families Leptodactylidae and Hylidae (Vanzolini, 1986; Carvalho & Nogueira, 1998; Bernarde, 2004; Leite et al. 2007), reptile eggs, birds, and small mammals (Bernarde, 2004). On this occasion the victim was Leptodactylus fuscus (Leptodactylidae), which occurs throughout Brazil, Argentina, Bolivia, Paraguay, and the eastern Andes (Frost, 2007). Males of L. fuscus are approximately 36 mm and females 39 mm of Snout-vent length (SVL). Reproduction is restricted to the rainy season, when males build nests on the mud and actively vocalize to attract females (Martins, 1988).

The predation event was observed on the 29st February 2008, at 14:05 hrs (approximately 36.0 °C air temperature) by the first author, who documented the entire event photographically. The L. fuscus individual invaded the backyard area of a rural residence (approximately 15° 20' S 55° 53', 250 m elevation) in Cuiabá, state of Mato Grosso, Brazil. The snake appeared, possibly attracted by the prey movement, a feature common to snakes with diurnal habits (Ota, 1986), and slowly, by lateral undulations approached the victim. The snake stopped to 20 cm from the frog and struck the left pelvic region of the victim rapidly, without releasing the frog. In response, the frog started to emit a 'release call', but the snake held it by the left posterior limb with the mouth. The ingestion process occurred from cloacae to head direction, after about 1 minute from the initial strike (Fig. 1). Two minutes from the ingestion process commencing, the snake consumed the entire captured prey.

The snake was then collected and deposited as a voucher specimen at Coleção Zoológica da Universidade Federal de Mato Grosso, UFMT 6505 (SVL: 791 mm; TL: 298 mm; M: 85 g, female).

Three main kinds of attacks and subjugations have been described in snakes: standstill, constriction, and poisoning (Pinto & Lema, 2002). Generally, constriction is used by members of Boidae family and sometimes by Colubridae (Pinto & Lema, 2002). Viperidae, such as the Lancehead (*Bothrops jararaca*), subjugate prey by poisoning (Sazima, 1989); Sueiro & Brites, 2006). On this occasion *M. boddaerti* did not act by constriction during the attack, possibly due to the relative small size of the frog. However, it is possible that prey with claws, that are considered fast moving and able to promote injury (such as lizards), are taken using constriction by *M. boddaerti* to immobilize and kill prey.

Further natural observations with different prey would be required to confirm this hypothesis. Other species of amphibians are known from the diet of *M. boddaerti* but to the best of our knowledge we believe this is the first detailed record of predation on *L. fuscus* in natural circumstances.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are grateful to Evan Twomey for comments on the manuscript and to CAPES for the financial support to Lucas Rodriguez Forti.



Figure 1. Mastigodryas boddaerti preying on Leptodactylus fuscus.

REFERENCES

- Bernarde, P .S. (2004). Composição faunística, ecologia e história natural de serpentes em uma região no sudoeste da Amazônia, Rondônia, Brasil. Ph.D Thesis.
- Carvalho, M. A. & Nogueira, F. (1998). Serpentes da área urbana de Cuiabá, Mato Grosso: aspectos ecológicos e acidentes ofídicos associados. *Cadernos de Saúde Pública* 14 (4), 753-763.
- Forti, L. R., Fischer, H. Z. & Encarnação, L.C. (2007). Treefrog *Dendropsophus elegans* (Wield-Neuwied, 1824) (Anura: Hylidae) as a meal to *Otostigmus tibialis* Brölemann, 1902 (Chilopoda: Scolopendridae) in tropical rain forest in southeastern Brazil. *Braz. J. Biol.* 67

(3), 583-584.

- Frost, D. R. (2007). Amphibian Species of the World: Online Reference. V. 5.0 (1 February, 2007). http://research.amnh.org/herpetology/ amphibia/index.php. Am. Mus. of Nat. Hist., New York, USA (accessed: 21/06/2008).
- Leite, P. T., Nunes, S. F. & Cechin, S. Z. (2007). Dieta e uso de habitat da jararaca-do-brejo, *Mastigodryas bifossatus* Raddi (Serpentes, Colubridae) em domínio subtropical do Brasil. *Rev. Brasil. de Zool.* **24** (3), 729-734.
- Martins, M. (1988). Biologia reprodutiva de *Leptodactylus fuscus* em Boa Vista, Roraima (Amphibia: Anura). *Rev. Brasil. de Biol.* **48**, 969-977.

Mccormick, S. & Polis, G. A. (1982). Arthropods

that Prey on Vertebrates. Biol. Rev. 57, 29-58.

- Ota, H. (1986). Snake really an able hunter? Predatory behavior of Japanese striped snake, *Elaphe quadrivirgata. J. Ethol.* **4**, 69-71.
- Pinto, C. C. & Lema, T. (2002). Comportamento alimentar e dieta de serpentes, gêneros *Boiruna* e *Clélia* (Serpentes, Colubridae). *Iheringia, Ser. Zool.* **92** (2), 9-19.
- Sazima, I. (1989). Comportamento alimentar da jararaca, *Bothrops jararaca*: encontros provocados na natureza. *Ciência e cultura* 41 (5), 500-505.
- S.B.H. (2007). Lista de espécies de anfibios do Brasil. Sociedade Brasileira de Herpetologia: http://www.sbherpetologia.org.br/checklist/ anfibios.htm, (accessed: June 12, 2008).
- Vanzoline, P. E. (1986). Levantamento herpetológico da area do estado de Rondônia sob a influência da rodovia BR 364. *Prog. Polon. relatório de pesquisa* 1, 1-49.
- Sueiro, L.R. & Brites, V.L.C. (2006). Táticas de captura e subjugação de presas no comportamento de predação da serpente *Crotalus durrissus collilineatus*, Amaral, 1926 em cativeiro. *Biotemas* 19 (4), 55-61.
- Toledo, L.F., Ribeiro, R.S. & Haddad, C.F.B. (2007). Anurans as prey: exploratory analysis and size relationships between predators and their prey. *J. of Zool.* **271**, 170-177.
- Wells, K. D. (2007). *The Ecology and Behavior of Amphibians*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Uetz, P., Goll, J. & Hallermann, J. (2007). The Reptile Database, http://www.reptile-database. org. (accessed: September 24, 2008).

Submitted by: LUCAS RODRIGUEZ FORTI¹ and RICARDO ALEXANDRE KAWASHITA-RIBEIRO²

¹ Universidade Federal de Mato Grosso / Instituto de Biociências / Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia e Conservação da Biodiversidade. Av. Fernando Corrêa da Costa, s/n, CCBS-II, Boa Esperança, Cuiabá, state of Mato Grosso, Brazil, CEP: 78060-900. lucas forti@yahoo.com.br

² Universidade Federal de Mato Grosso / Instituto de Biociências / Coleção Zoológica. Av. Fernando Corrêa da Costa, s/n, CCBS-II, Boa Esperança, *Cuiabá, state of Mato Grosso, Brazil, CEP: 78060-900.*

AMPHISBAENA ALBA (Worm Lizard): DEFENSIVE BEHAVIOUR. *Amphisbaena alba* (Linnaeus, 1758) occurs in forested lowlands of South America, from Panama through Venezuela, Trinidad, and the Guyana; Colombia, Peru, and Bolivia eastern the Andes; Brazil and northern Paraguay (Gans, 2005). It shows fossorial habits and diet that comprises varied arthropods and their larvae, and occasionally some vertebrates, such as small rodents and lizards (Colli & Zamboni, 1999).

This report describes for the first time the defensive behavior of an *A. alba* (approximately 400 mm total length) in nature under predatory circumstances.

The specimen was found in Santa Rosa Farm, district of Curvelo-MG (18°45'S 44°25'W), and observed in January 2008, at about 8:30 a.m. crossing a lawn. The worm lizard was noticed by some chickens and a rooster (*Gallus* sp.) which attacked it, pecking its body randomly (Fig. 1). The amphisbenid reacted to all lunges by opening the mouth, lifting the tail and trying to strike a bite, eventualy forming a semicircle with the body seemingly trying to defend itself (Fig. 2 and 3). Some chickens got away after some time, however one chicken continued pecking the worm lizard in an apparent predatory attempt, and the amphisbenid tried to escape. Eventually it reached a tree stub hidding in a hole.

The pursuit lasted about 15 minutes when pictures were taken. No injuries were observed in the *Amphisbaena*. This behavior described as defensive (Gans, 1962) had been observed only when confrontations were provoked experimentally (Gans, 1962; Greene, 1973; Brito *et al.*, 2001). Caudal autotomy did not occur in *A. alba* (this case) on this occasion. This may have been becasue of the lack of an intravertebral caudal fracture plane and consequently absence of external caudal narrowing (Gans, 1962), a feature different from species such *A. mertensi* (Brito *et al.*, 2001) which used it as an important survival strategy like other amphisbenids (Vanzolini, 1948, 1951).

REFERENCES

- Brito, S. P., Andrade, D. V. & Abe, A. S. (2001). *Amphisbaena mertensi* (NCN). Defensive behavior. *Herp. Rev.* **32**, 43-44.
- Colli, G. R. & Zamboni, D. S. (1999). Ecology of the worm-lizard *Amphisbaena alba* in the Cerrado of Central Brazil. *Copeia* **3**, 733-742.
- Gans, C. (1962). Notes on Amphisbaenids (Amphisbaenia, Reptilia): a redefinition and bibliography of *Amphisbaena alba* Linné. *Am. Mus. Novit.* **2105**, 1-31.
- Gans, C. (2005). Checklist and bibliography of the Amphisbaenia of the world. *Bull. Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist.* **289** (1), 1-130.
- Greene, H. W. (1973). Defensive tail display by snakes and amphisbaenians. *J. Herpetol.* 7 (3), 131-161.
- Vanzolini, P. E. (1948). Notas sobre os ofídios e lagartos da Cachoeira de Emas, no município de Pirassununga, estado de São Paulo. *Rev. Brasil. Biol.* 8 (3), 377-400.



Figure 1. The worm lizard was pursued by a chicken.



Figure 2. It is forming a semicircle with the body seemingly trying to defend itself.

Vanzolini, P. E. (1951). Amphisbaena fuliginosa. Contribution to the knowledge of the Brazilian lizards of the family Amphisbaenidae Gray, 1825. 6. On the geographical distribution and differentiation of Amphisbaena fuliginosa Linné. Bull. Mus. Comp. Zool. 106 (1), 1-67.

Submitted by: CIRCE CAVALCANTI DE ALBUQUERQUE¹, SILVIA REGINA TRAVAGLIA-CARDOSO¹ and DAISY PEREIRA RAMOS

¹ Laboratório de Herpetologia, Instituto Butantan,

Av. Vital Brazil, 1500, CEP 05503-900, São Paulo, SP, Brazil. silviacardoso@butantan.gov.br



Figure 3. The amphisbenid reacted to all lunges opening the mouth, lifting the tail and trying to strike a bite.

BOOK REVIEW

Biology of Turtles: from structure to strategies of life

Jeanette Wyneken, Matthew H. Godfrey and Vincent Bels

2007. CRC Press, Florida, 408 pp.

'Were there no turtles living, we would look upon the fossil turtles as the strangest of all vertebratesanimals which had developed the strange habit of concealing themselves inside their ribs, for that is literally what turtles do.'

Samuel Williston, 1914

The quote by Williston is a fitting synopsis of the Biology of Turtles - a book about chelonian anatomy. To be precise, this book is about how the distinct anatomy of turtles influences every aspect of their biology, including feeding, growth, locomotion, physiology, and reproduction. This novel approach was the result of the Sixth International Congress of Vertebrate Morphology held in Jena, Germany in 2001. Fittingly, the symposium occurred precisely where Ludwig Heinrich Bojanus compiled Anatome Testudinis Europaeae, an incredibly detailed atlas of the morphology of the European Pond Turtle (*Emys orbicularis*) some 180 years prior (Bojanus, 1819).

Chapters one and three of the Biology of Turtles provide an in-depth treatise of the single most important morphological adaptation of the chelonian condition: the shell. In Chapter 1, authors Gilbert *et al.* discuss the anatomy of the turtle shell. From colour photos of early embryological stages to the formation and ossification of the carapace, plastron, and nuchal bones, the authors provide a tentative outline of how the shell is formed. Much remains to be discovered, however. For instance, what causes plastral concavity in the males of certain species or how the hinge develops to permit plastral kinesis is still unknown. Nevertheless, in Chapter 3, Pritchard draws upon his extensive osteological collection at the Chelonian Research Institute in Florida to delve not only into the standard configuration of the shell but also into known deformities such as 'pyramiding' and other scute abnormalities. Clear black and white photographs are used to compare and contrast various morphological adaptations such as hinges, fontanels, and buttresses. The degree of morphological variability within the Chelonia is truly astounding and the reader will get a true sense of it in this chapter.

Chapters two and four describe how turtle long bones grow. In Chapter 2, Snover and Rhodin discuss how annuli within these bones. termed 'lines of arrested growth', can be used to estimate age and growth, a technique known as skeletochronology. Most interesting, however, is the pattern of accelerated skeletal growth in the Leatherback (Dermochelys coriacea). The presence of unique vascularised cartilage canals permits the Leatherback to grow at an astounding rate, an 8000-fold increase in mass from hatching to sexual maturity. Until reading this chapter, one really has no idea just how unique a life form the Leatherback is Indeed as the authors stated 'it is the most remarkably specialized turtle in the world.' In Chapter 4, Llorente et al. investigate limb bone allometry; that is, they analysed turtle limb bone diameters and lengths and then compared and contrasted the proportions of these bones in 11 chelonian families. Based on their results, the authors concluded that turtle long bones have less in common with the proportions of quadrupedal mammal long bones than they do with those of avian hind limbs.

Chapters five and six build upon the previous chapters by providing an in-depth exploration of locomotion in turtles. In Chapter 5, Renous *et al.* begin by examining the fossil record; what do the sediments that the fossils were found in tell us about a given fossil species? Can we infer that a species was terrestrial or an aquatic bottomwalker based on a combination of anatomy and geology? On occasion, the scientific community is favoured with outstanding discoveries. For instance, Fig. 5.21 illustrates the fossilized tracks of two Jurassic turtles. In extant chelonians, the authors explore the morphological adaptations of the shell and limbs based on a continuum ranging from terrestrial tortoises to highly aquatic sea turtles. The rest of the chapter examines the motions involved in the propulsion and limb coordination of representative aquatic species such as D. coriacea, Trachemys scripta, Chelydra serpentina, and Carettochelys insculpta. From these, one discovers that alternating limb movements are the norm in all but the most highly aquatic species - those with foreflippers. Chapter 6 focuses more on the function of hindlimbs in locomotion. Blob et al. compare and contrast the movements of adult and juvenile T. scripta and Apalone spinifera using high-speed video and electromyographic signals from muscles. Interestingly, the authors observed that interspecific differences observed between adults were not evident in the juveniles. The research in Chapters five and six provide the reader with a better understanding of how morphologically diverse genera are adapted to survive in a wide variety of habitats.

Chapters seven and eight delve into the anatomy of the chelonian neck, particularly with regards to extension and retraction during such necessary activities as snorkelling and foraging. In Chapter 7, Herrel et al. chose two genera to represent both primary modes of neck retraction. The genus Apalone represented the Cryptodira (turtles that retract their neck straight back like a tortoise) and Chelodina represented the Pleurodira (turtles that fold their neck to the side). Of particular interest is that the authors conclude that the neck morphology of Apalone is highly specialized and may not be representative of the general Cryptodiran condition. Chapter 8 examines the ingestion of food items in both terrestrial and aquatic environments. Bels et al. used series of photographs and x-rays to break down foraging episodes in millisecond increments for Geochelone radiata, Kinixys belliana, and Malaclemys terrapin. The chapter concludes with an examination of feeding in young D. coriacea.

Chapter nine discusses several novel characteristics of the chelonian circulatory system. Wyneken reveals that the turtle heart, for instance, is not simply three-chambered as commonly held; the ventricle is subdivided functionally into three compartments. Although it comes as no surprise that freshwater and sea turtles are particularly adept at holding their breath, what is surprising is that, in contrast to mammalian lungs, turtles have no bronchial tree or alveoli in their lungs. Moreover, the lungs of deep-diving migratory sea turtles are more complex than those of more sedentary hunters, such as *C. serpentina*. Here, as throughout this book, anatomy informs ecology.

Chapters ten and eleven provide а comprehensive review of turtle reproductive structures and strategies. In Chapter 10, Miller and Dinkelacker discuss several rarely covered topics such as cloacal and urinary bladder morphology. As to strategies, the implications of egg morphology are particularly interesting. Typically, turtles that incubate their eggs in moist environments have pliable eggs that absorb water; whereas, those that incubate them in arid or semiarid environments produce non-porous or 'hardshelled' eggs, presumably to limit water loss. In addition, spherical eggs are typically produced by large turtles and oblong eggs by small turtles. Thus, even egg morphology can inform ecology. In Chapter 11, Hulin et al. examine the implications of temperature-dependent sex determination (TSD) in 64 of the 79 species of turtles examined thus far. If offspring sex ratio is dependent upon incubation temperature, what effects might rapid climate change have? Likely scenarios are discussed at length.

Chapter twelve discusses the complex and physiological adaptations anatomical necessary for the turtle brain to tolerate hypoxic (low oxygen) and anoxic (no oxygen) conditions during brumation. At 3 °C, Common Musk (Sternotherus odoratus), Northern Map (Graptemvs geographica), and Eastern Painted Turtles (Chrysemys picta picta) can survive anoxic waters for 22, 45, and 150 days, respectively. This ability is a result of specific brain adaptations at both the molecular and physiological level.

In the final chapter, Rieppel examines the relationship of turtles within amniotes. Chapter 13 explores such questions as; did turtles begin as aquatic or terrestrial organisms? Ultimately, the

author concludes that many of the questions posed in this chapter will remain unanswered until intermediate forms are discovered in the fossil record. One such fossil, *Odontochelys semitestacea* - meaning half-shelled turtle with teeth, was described from China after the publication of this book (Li *et al.*, 2008).

Although well-written, the Biology of Turtles is not without errors and omissions. For instance, Figure 3.16 is mistakenly labelled as '*Podocnemis* gabonensis' rather than *Pelusios gabonensis*, as specified in the text. Moreover, in Section 8.5.1.3, the authors indicate that ingestion of mealworms by *Terrapene carolina* is depicted in Figure 8.3; whereas, the figure actually depicts *K. belliana* consuming lettuce. Although Figure 12.1 clearly depicts the anatomy of a turtle brain, it would have been helpful if the turtle species had been indicated.

The title of this book suggests a much broader subject matter, yet a title such as 'Anatomy of Turtles' would not have done this volume justice. It is much more that an anatomical description rather it is an exploration of how anatomical features influence the ecology of chelonians. Those contemplating the lofty purchase price (£78-£99) will need to assess where they are personally on their quest of chelonian knowledge. One may safely surmise that this book was intended for an advanced audience comprised primarily of 'students' of chelonian anatomy, taxonomy, and physiology. The book is replete with technical jargon and makes no apology for it. Consequently, readability is an issue; if one does not read at least ten chelonian research papers per year, then much of the merit of this book will be lost. Advanced professional herpetologists that conduct ecological research on turtles will surely benefit from the much broader exposure to the scientific literature that this compendium provides. Conversely, few naturalists or pet turtle hobbyists will derive much benefit from this book; they should peruse this book at the nearest university library before deciding on a purchase. The Biology of Turtles belongs in the library collections of every major research university with degrees in biology, ecology, paleontology, wildlife biology, and zoology. For the bibliophiles of chelonian

literature, the Biology of Turtles is certainly required to complete one's book collection.

REFERENCES

- Bojanus, L.H. (1819). Anatome Testudinis Europaeae. Vilnae Impensis Auctoris. http:// w w w . a r c h i v e . o r g / d e t a i l s / anatometestudini02boja], (accessed 11th January 2009).
- Li, C. Wu, X.-C. Rieppel, O. Wang, L.-T. & Zhao, L.-J. (2008). An ancestral turtle from the Late Triassic of southwestern China. *Nature* **456**, 497-501.

RAYMOND A. SAUMURE

Springs Preserve, 1001 South Valley View Blvd., Las Vegas, Nevada 89107, USA. insculpta@ gmail.com

THE HERPETOLOGICAL BULLETIN

The Herpetological Bulletin is produced quarterly and publishes, in English, a range of articles concerned with herpetology. These include full-length papers of mostly a semi-technical nature, book reviews, letters from readers, society news, and other items of general herpetological interest. Emphasis is placed on natural history, conservation, captive breeding and husbandry, veterinary and behavioural aspects. Articles reporting the results of experimental research, descriptions of new taxa, or taxonomic revisions should be submitted to *The Herpetological Journal* (see inside back cover for Editor's address).

ISSN 1473-0928

© The British Herpetological Society. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced without the permission of the Editor.

Printed by: Bruce Clark (Printers), Units 7-8, Marybank Lane, Dundee, DD2 3DY.

Guidelines for contributing authors

- Contributions should be submitted preferably in electronic form, either by e-mail or as text files on CD, DVD, or 100 mb zip disk, in Windows format only. The Bulletin is typeset directly from the author's electronic file, so wherever possible all manuscripts should be prepared using standard word-processing software. Articles should be arranged in the following general order: *Title; Name(s)* of author(s); *Address(es)* of authors (please indicate corresponding author); *Abstract* (optional if included should not exceed 10% of total word length); *Text; Acknowledgements; References; Appendices.* Footnotes should not be included. Refer to this issue for style and format information.
- 2. High resolution scanned images (TIFF or JPEG files) are the preferred format for submission of illustrations, although good quality slides, colour, and monochrome prints are also acceptable. All illustrations should be entirely relevant to the text and numbered sequentially with Arabic numbers.
- 3. Authors will be informed promptly of receipt of their manuscript and given a time-scale within which it will be published. Acknowledgement of the receipt of work *does not* indicate acceptance for publication. Contributions are liable to assessment for suitability and ethical issues and all articles included in the main 'Research' section are subject to review. The Editor reserves the right to shorten or amend a manuscript, although substantial alterations will not be made without permission of the primary author.
- 4. Authors are supplied with a portable document file (pdf) of their published article and also receive a complimentary copy of the full printed issue. Slides, artwork, and other original material will be returned following publication.
- 5. The significance and importance of some articles may be such that the Editor will offer the author a year's free subscription to the Society for their work.
- 6. The Editor is keenly aware that contributors may find some of these instructions difficult to comply with and is anxious that the pages of the Bulletin should remain open to as wide a range of correspondents as possible. Therefore, if an author has concerns about the suitability of a manuscript, or would like help in preparing it, please contact the Editor to discuss.

Further information for contributing authors is available at: http://www.thebhs.org

The views expressed by the contributors to the Bulletin are not necessarily those of the Editor or the British Herpetological Society.

All manuscript submissions and correspondence arising from the Bulletin should be sent to the Editor, Peter Stafford, c/o Dept. of Botany, The Natural History Museum, Cromwell Road, London, SW7 5BD. *E-mail: herpbulletin@thebhs.org.* Books submitted for review purposes should be sent directly to the Reviews Editor, Neil D'Cruze (contact details on inside back cover of this issue).

Front cover illustration. African Fat-tailed Gecko (Hemitheconyx caudicinctus). © S. Spawls. See article on page 7.

BRITISH HERPETOLOGICAL SOCIETY COUNCIL 2009/2010

Society address: c/o Zoological Society of London, Regent's Park, London NW1 4RY

	Webs	site: http://www.thebhs.org					
President:	Prof. T.J.C. Beebee	Dept. of Biochemistry, School of Life Sciences, Univer Falmer, Brighton BN1 9QG. <i>E-mail: t.j.c.beebee@susse</i>	ersity of Sussex, ex.ac.uk				
Chairman:	Mr. J. Coote	E-mail: chair@thebhs.org					
Treasurer:	Mr. M. Wise	Tel: +44 (0)207 793 1102 (eves) or +44 (0)7531 336995. <i>E-mail: treasurer@thebhs.org</i>					
Secretary:	Mr. T. Rose	11 Strathmore Place, Montrose, Angus DD10 8LQ. Tel: +44 (0)1674 671676: Mob: 07778 830192. E-mail: secretary@thebhs.org					
The Herpetological Journal		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,					
Receiving Editor:	Dr. R. Jehlé	Salford University, School of Env. & Life Sciences, P Crescent, Salford, Greater Manchester M5 4WT. Tel: <i>E-mail: herpjournal@thebhs.org</i> or <i>r.jehle@salford.ac</i>	eel Building, Salford +44 (0)161 295 2146. <i>c.uk</i>				
Managing Editor:	Dr. E. Price	International Training Centre, Durrell Wildlife Conser Augrès Manor, La Profonde Rue, Trinity, Jersey JE3 5 <i>F-mail: eldom@ierseymail.co.uk</i>	vation Trust, Les 5BP.				
The Herpetological Bulletin		E man. chuom@jerseyman.co.ak					
Editor:	Mr. T. R. Lewis	Westfield, 4 Worgret Road, Wareham, Dorset, BH20 4 herpbulletin@thebhs.org	4PJ. <i>E-mail:</i>				
Reviews Editor:	Mr. N. D'Cruze	The World Society for the Protection of Animals, 89 A London SE1 7TP. E-mail: neildcruze@wspa.org.uk	Albert Embankment,				
The NatterJack Editor:	Ms. M. Lock	54 Hillside, Dover, Kent, CT17 0QJ. E-mail: natterja	ck@thebhs.org				
Librarian:	Mr. D. Bird	Jacaranda Cottage, New Buildings, Spetisbury, Blandford Forum, Dorset DT11 9EE. E-mail: drbird.herp1@virgin.net					
Development Officer:	Mr. M. Hollowell	E-mail: markh22@btinternet.com					
Webmaster:	Vacant.						
Conservation Officer:	Mrs. J. Clemons	34 Montalt Road, Cheylesmore, Coventry CV3 5LU. Email: janice.clemons@virgin.net					
Trade Officer:	Mr. P. Curry	90 Brook Crescent, Chingford, London E4 9ET. E-mail: p	eter.curry@eurorep.co.uk				
Captive Breeding Committee Chairman:	Dr. S. Townson	103 Chancellors Road, Stevenage Old Town, Hertford <i>F-mail: simon townson@ntlworld.com</i>	lshire SG1 4TZ.				
Education Committee Chairman:	Mr. D. Freeman	272 Whaddon Way, Bletchley, Milton Keynes MK3 7JP.					
Research Committee Chairman:	Dr. C. Gleed-Owen	CGO Ecology Limited, Flat 5 Cranbourne House, 12 Bournemouth, Dorset BH1 4DQ. E-mail: research@tu	Knole Road, hebhs.org				
North-West England Group Representative:	Mr. R. Parkinson	24 Orwell Close, Bury, Lancashire, BL8 1UU. E-mail: northwest@thebhs.org					
Scottish Groups Liaison Officer:	Mr. F. Bowles	37 Albany Terrace, Dundee DD3 6HS. E-mail: fdb@b	bowles.org.uk				
		Ordinary Members					
Mr. N. D'Cruze	WSPA, 89 Albert Embankme	ent, London SE1 7TP. E-mail: neildcruze@wspa.org.uk	(2 nd vear)				
Mrs. J. Spencer C	orn Barn Cottage, Moorside	Farm, Station Road, Backwell, Somerset BS48 1TH.	(1 st year)				
	Tel. +44(0)1275 8	58243 E-mail: jspencer@bristolzoo.org.uk	())				
Mr. D. Willis	<i>E-ma</i>	il: davewillisbhs@yahoo.co.uk	(1 st year)				
	Fellows of	the British Herpetological Society					

Prof. T. J. C. Beebee, Prof. J. Cloudsley-Thompson, Mrs. M. Green, Dr. R. A. Griffiths, Mrs. E. Haslewood, Mr. T. A. Rose, Mr. V. F. Taylor, Dr. S. Townson.

Past Presidents (retiring date)

Dr. M.A. Smith (1956), Dr. J.F.D. Frazer (1981), The Earl of Cranbrook (1990), Prof. J.L. Cloudsley-Thompson (1996), Dr. R. Avery (1997), Dr. H. Robert Bustard (2005)